Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited take no responsibility for the contents of
this announcement, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any
loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this announcement.

This announcement is for information purposes only and does not constitute an invitation or offer to acquire, purchase or subscribe for
securities. This announcement does not constitute or form a part of any offer or solicitation to purchase or subscribe for securities in
the United States. The securities have not been and will not be registered under the U.S. Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the
“Securities Act”), or the securities laws of any state of the United States or any other jurisdiction, and may not be offered or sold within
the United States except pursuant to an exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to, the registration requirements of the Securities
Act. Accordingly, the Notes (as defined below) are being offered and sold only outside the United States in offshore transactions in
compliance with Regulation S under the Securities Act. This announcement and the information contained herein are not for distribution,
directly or indirectly, in or into the United States. No public offer of the securities referred to herein is being or will be made in the
United States.

This announcement and the listing document referred to herein have been published for information purposes only as required by
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and do not constitute an offer to sell
nor a solicitation of an offer to buy any securities. Neither this announcement nor anything referred to herein (including the listing
document) forms the basis for any contract or commitment whatsoever. For the avoidance of doubt, the publication of this
announcement and the listing document referred to herein shall not be deemed to be an offer of securities made pursuant to a prospectus
issued by or on behalf of the Issuer (as defined below) for the purposes of the Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions)
Ordinance (Cap. 32) of Hong Kong nor shall it constitute an advertisement, invitation or document containing an invitation to the public
to enter into or offer to enter into an agreement to acquire, dispose of, subscribe for or underwrite securities for the purposes of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571) of Hong Kong.

Notice to Hong Kong investors: The Issuer confirms that the Notes are intended for purchase by professional investors (as defined in
Chapter 37 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited) only and have been listed
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on that basis. Accordingly, the Issuer confirms that the Notes are not appropriate as an
investment for retail investors in Hong Kong. Investors should carefully consider the risks involved.

PUBLICATION OF THE OFFERING CIRCULAR

Zhengzhou Urban Construction Investment Group Co., Ltd.

G R BB A PR A7)

(incorporated in the People’s Republic of China with limited liability)
(the “Issuer”)

U.S.$350,000,000 5.20 per cent. Notes due 2025
(the “Notes”, Stock Code: 5463)

Joint Global Coordinators, Joint Bookrunners and Joint Lead Managers
China International Capital Corporation CNCB Capital

Joint Bookrunners and Joint Lead Managers

Central China CMB International Shenwan ICBC International CEB International
International Hongyuan (H.K.)
China China China CLSA China Galaxy Haitong Bank
Everbright Bank Securities Industrial International
Hong Kong International Securities
Branch International

This announcement is issued pursuant to Rule 37.39A of the Listing Rules.

Reference is made to the notice of listing of the Notes on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
dated 30 August 2022 published by the Issuer.



The offering circular dated 24 August 2022 (the “Offering Circular”) prepared in connection with the
issue of the Notes is appended herewith.

Page F-3 of the Offering Circular is in Chinese and is generated by the website of the Beijing Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (b5 & 5t AT &) (http://www.bicpa.org.cn/). It sets out the
filing information (including filing number, name of audit firm, type of opinion and responsible
accountant) of the relevant audited financial statements under the Business Report Unified Coding
Filing System (3£ %% ¥R 15 4% — 4 A% R i & %) with the Beijing Institute of Certified Public
Accountants.

Hong Kong, 31 August 2022

As at the date of this announcement, the directors of the Issuer are Xue Songsen, Yang Xiangyang and
Liang Yuansen.
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IMPORTANT NOTICE
NOT FOR DISTRIBUTION TO ANY PERSON OR ADDRESS IN THE UNITED STATES.

IMPORTANT: You must read the following before continuing. The following applies to the offering circular following this page (the
“Offering Circular”), and you are therefore advised to read this carefully before reading, accessing or making any other use of the
Offering Circular. In accessing the Offering Circular, you agree to be bound by the following terms and conditions, including any
modifications to them any time you receive any information from the Issuer (as defined in the Offering Circular) as a result of such
access.

Confirmation of your Representation: In order to be eligible to view this Offering Circular or make an investment decision with respect
to the securities, investors must be purchasing the securities outside the United States in an offshore transaction in reliance on Regulation
S under the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”). This Offering Circular is being sent at your request
and by accepting the e-mail and accessing this Offering Circular, you shall be deemed to have represented to China International Capital
Corporation Hong Kong Securities Limited, CNCB (Hong Kong) Capital Limited, Central China International Securities Co., Limited,
CMB International Capital Limited, Shenwan Hongyuan Securities (H.K.) Limited, ICBC International Securities Limited, CEB
International Capital Corporation Limited, China Everbright Bank Co., Ltd., Hong Kong Branch, China Securities (International)
Corporate Finance Company Limited, China Industrial Securities International Brokerage Limited, CLSA Limited, China Galaxy
International Securities (Hong Kong) Co., Ltd and Haitong Bank, Macau Branch (each, a “Joint Lead Manager” and together, the “Joint
Lead Managers”) and the Issuer that you and any customers you represent are not, and the electronic mail address that you gave the Joint
Lead Managers to which this e-mail has been delivered is not, located in the United States and that you consent to delivery of the attached
Offering Circular and any amendments or supplements thereto by electronic transmission.

NOTHING IN THIS ELECTRONIC TRANSMISSION CONSTITUTES AN OFFER OF SECURITIES FOR SALE IN THE
UNITED STATES OR ANY OTHER JURISDICTION WHERE IT IS UNLAWFUL TO DO SO. THE SECURITIES HAVE NOT
BEEN, AND WILL NOT BE, REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT, OR THE SECURITIES LAWS OF ANY STATE OF
THE UNITED STATES OR OTHER JURISDICTION AND THE SECURITIES MAY NOT BE OFFERED OR SOLD WITHIN
THE UNITED STATES, EXCEPT PURSUANT TO AN EXEMPTION FROM, OR IN A TRANSACTION NOT SUBJECT TO, THE
REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS OF THE SECURITIES ACT AND APPLICABLE STATE OR LOCAL SECURITIES LAWS.
THIS OFFERING IS MADE SOLELY IN OFFSHORE TRANSACTIONS PURSUANT TO REGULATION S UNDER THE
SECURITIES ACT.

Restrictions: You are reminded that this Offering Circular has been delivered to you on the basis that you are a person into whose
possession this Offering Circular may be lawfully delivered in accordance with the laws of the jurisdiction in which you are located and
you may not, nor are you authorised to, deliver this Offering Circular, electronically or otherwise, to any other person. If you have gained
access to this transmission contrary to the foregoing restrictions, you are not allowed to purchase any of the securities described in the
attached Offering Circular.

The Offering Circular is being furnished in connection with an offering in offshore transactions outside the United States in reliance on
Regulation S under the Securities Act solely for the purpose of enabling a prospective investor to consider the purchase of the securities
described in the Offering Circular.

Nothing in this electronic transmission constitutes an offer or an invitation by or on behalf of any of the Issuer, the Joint Lead Managers,
the Trustee or the Agents (each as defined in the attached Offering Circular) to subscribe for or purchase any of the securities described
therein, and access has been limited so that it shall not constitute in the United States or elsewhere a general solicitation or general
advertising (as those terms are used in Regulation D under the Securities Act) or directed selling efforts (within the meaning of Regulation
S under the Securities Act). If a jurisdiction requires that the offering be made by a licensed broker or dealer and the Joint Lead Managers
or any affiliate of them is a licensed broker or dealer in that jurisdiction, the offering shall be deemed to be made by the Joint Lead
Managers or such affiliate on behalf of the Issuer in such jurisdiction.

MiFID II product governance/Professional investors and ECPs only target market — For the purposes of Directive EU 2014/65/EU
(as amended, “MiFID II”), the target market in respect of the Notes is expected to be eligible counterparties and professional clients only,
each as defined in MiFID II. Any person offering, selling or recommending the Notes (a “distributor”) should take into consideration
such target market; however, a distributor subject to MiFID II is responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of
the Notes and determining appropriate distribution channels.

This Offering Circular has been sent to you in an electronic form. You are reminded that documents transmitted via this medium may be
altered or changed during the process of electronic transmission and consequently none of the Issuer, the Joint Lead Managers, the
Trustee, the Agents, nor any person who controls any of them, nor their respective directors, officers, employees, representatives nor
agents, nor affiliates of any such person accepts any liability or responsibility whatsoever in respect of any difference between the
Offering Circular distributed to you in electronic format and the hard copy version available to you on request from the Joint Lead
Managers.

THIS OFFERING CIRCULAR MAY NOT BE FORWARDED OR DISTRIBUTED TO ANY OTHER PERSON,
ELECTRONICALLY OR OTHERWISE, AND MAY NOT BE REPRODUCED IN ANY MANNER WHATSOEVER, AND IN
PARTICULAR, MAY NOT BE FORWARDED TO ANY U.S. ADDRESS. ANY FORWARDING, DISTRIBUTION OR
REPRODUCTION OF THIS DOCUMENT IN WHOLE OR IN PART IS UNAUTHORISED. FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH THIS
DIRECTIVE MAY RESULT IN A VIOLATION OF THE SECURITIES ACT OR THE APPLICABLE LAWS OF OTHER
JURISDICTIONS. IF YOU HAVE GAINED ACCESS TO THIS TRANSMISSION CONTRARY TO ANY OF THE FOREGOING
RESTRICTIONS, YOU ARE NOT AUTHORISED AND WILL NOT BE ABLE TO PURCHASE ANY OF THE SECURITIES
DESCRIBED THEREIN.

Actions that you may not take: If you receive this document by e-mail, you should not reply by e-mail to this document, and you may
not purchase any securities by doing so. Any reply e-mail communications, including those you generate by using the “Reply” function on
your e-mail software, will be ignored or rejected.

You are responsible for protecting against viruses and other destructive items. Your use of this e-mail is at your own risk and it is
your responsibility to take precautions to ensure that it is free from viruses and other items of a destructive nature.



STRICTLY CONFIDENTIAL

ZHENGZHOU URBAN CONSTRUCTION INVESTMENT GROUP CO., LTD.
(B8 ] 0t 4 T 0 A B 2 )

(incorporated in the People’s Republic of China with limited liability)

U.S.$350,000,000 5.20 PER CENT. NOTES DUE 2025
ISSUE PRICE: 100.0 PER CENT.

The 5.20 per cent. notes due 2025 (the “Notes™) will be issued in the aggregate principal amount of U.S.$350,000,000 by Zhengzhou Urban Construction Investment Group Co., Ltd.

CH IR A M B ZEAT PR A ) (the “Issuer”) and are in reglslered form in the denominations of U.S.$200,000 and integral multlples of U.S.$1,000 in excess thereof. The PRC
government (including Zhengzhou SASAC (as defined herein)) is not an obligor and shall under no circumstances have any obligation arising out of or in connection with the Notes
in lieu of the Issuer. See “Risk Factors — Risks relating to the Notes — The PRC government has no obligations under the Notes”.

The Notes will bear interest from 30 August 2022 at the rate of 5.20 per cent. per annum. Interest on the Notes is payable semi-annually in arrear in equal instalments on the Interest
Payment Dates (as defined in “Terms and Conditions of the Notes™) falling on 28 February and 30 August in each year, commencing on 28 February 2023, subject as provided in
Condition 6 (Payments) of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes. Payments on the Notes will be made without withholding or deduction for or account of, taxes of the PRC (as
defined herein) to the extent described in “Terms and Conditions of the Notes — Taxation™.

The Notes will constitute direct, general, unsubordinated, unconditional and (subject to Condition 3(a) (Negative Pledge) of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes) unsecured
obligations of the Issuer which will at all times rank pari passu among themselves and at least pari passu with all other present and future unsecured and unsubordinated obligations
of the Issuer, save for such obligations as may be preferred by provisions of law that are both mandatory and of general application.

Unless previously redeemed, or purchased and cancelled, the Issuer will redeem the Notes at their principal amount on 30 August 2025 (the “Maturity Date”), subject as provided in
Condition 6 (Payments) of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes. The Notes are subject to redemption at the option of the Issuer, in whole but not in part, at any time, on giving not
less than 30 nor more than 60 days’ notice to the Noteholders (which notice shall be irrevocable) at their principal amount, together with interest accrued to (but not including) the
date fixed for redemption, in the event of certain changes affecting taxes of the PRC. See “Terms and Conditions of the Notes — Redemption and Purchase — Redemption for tax
reasons”. Furthermore, at any time following the occurrence of a Relevant Event (as defined in “Terms and Conditions of the Notes — Redemption and Purchase — Redemption for a
Relevant Event”), each Noteholder will have the right, at such Noteholder’s option, to require the Issuer to redeem all but not some only of that Noteholder’s Notes on the Put
Settlement Date (as defined in “Terms and Conditions of the Notes — Redemption and Purchase — Redemption for a Relevant Event”) at 101 per cent. of their principal amount (in
the case of redemption for a Change of Control (as defined in “Terms and Conditions of the Notes — Redemption and Purchase — Redemption for a Relevant Event”)) or, as the case
may be, 100 per cent. of their principal amount (in the case of redemption for a Non-Registration Event (as defined in “Terms and Conditions of the Notes — Redemption and
Purchase — Redemption for a Relevant Event”)), in each case, together with interest accrued to (but not including) such Put Settlement Date. See “Terms and Conditions of the Notes
— Redemption and Purchase — Redemption for a Relevant Event”.

Pursuant to the Circular on Promoting the Reform of the Administrative System on the Issuance by Enterprises of Foreign Debt Filings and Registrations (|55 5§ Ji ti # 25 [ i ffie it
A ZEHEAT A1 A 8 60 T I B IO 1 N (B R A E[2015) 20449%)) issued by the National Development and Reform Commission of the PRC or its local counterparts (“NDRC”) on
14 September 2015 which came into effect on the same day, and any implementation rules, reports, certificates, approvals or guidelines as issued by the NDRC from time to time (the
“NDRC Circular”), the Issuer has registered the issuance of the Notes with the NDRC and obtained a certificate from the NDRC on 8 March 2022, evidencing such registration and
which remains valid, in full force and effect. The Issuer will undertake to file or cause to be file with the NDRC to provide the requisite information and documents within the
prescribed timeframe after the Issue Date in accordance with the NDRC Circular (the “NDRC Post-issue Reporting”). The Issuer shall submit the NDRC Post-issue Reporting within
the prescribed timeframe after the Issue Date (as defined below) and shall comply with all applicable PRC laws and regulations in connection with the Notes.

The Issuer will undertake to file or cause to be filed with the State Administration of Foreign Exchange of the PRC or its local counterparts (“SAFE”) the requisite information and
documents within the prescribed timeframe in accordance with (i) the Administrative Measures for Foreign Debt Registration (JMet 6 Fo i #LHFi%) issued SAFE and which came
into effect on 13 May 2013, and (ii) the Circular on Relevant Matters about the Macro-Prudential Management of Cross-Border Financing in Full Aperture (%U/\Rfﬁﬁ%@f]"i[ 118
BT B A U B Eﬁ$ L[ 78 %1) issued by the People’s Bank of China of the PRC (“PBOC”) and which came into effect on 12 January 2017 and any implementation rules,
reports, certificates, approvals or guidelines as issued by the SAFE or the PBOC, as the case may be, from time to time (the “Foreign Debt Registration”). The Issuer intends to
complete the Foreign Debt Registration on or before the SAFE Registration Deadline (being 120 PRC Business Days (as defined in the Terms and Conditions of the Notes) after the
Issue Date).

Application will be made to The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “HKSE”) for the listing of the Notes by way of debt issues to professional investors (as defined in
Chapter 37 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited) (“Professional Investors”) only. This Offering Circular is for distribution
to Professional Investors only.

Notice to Hong Kong investors: The Issuer confirms that the Notes are intended for purchase by Professional Investors only and will be listed on the HKSE on that basis.
Accordingly, the Issuer confirms that the Notes are not appropriate as an investment for retail investors in Hong Kong. Investors should carefully consider the risks
involved.

The HKSE has not reviewed the contents of this Offering Circular, other than to ensure that the prescnhed form di i and responsibility st an

limiting distribution of this Offering Circular to Professional Investors only have been reproduced in this Offering Circular. Llstmg of the Notes on the HKSE is not to be
taken as an indication of the commercial merits or credit quality of the Notes, the Issuer, the Group or the quality of disclosure in this Offering Circular. Hong Kong
Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the HKSE take no responsibility for the contents of this Offering Circular, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and
expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this Offering Circular.

Application will be made for the listing of the Notes on Chongwa (Macao) Financial Asset Exchange Co., Ltd. (the “MOX”). This document is for distribution to professional
investors (as defined in Section 11 of the Guideline on Provision and Distribution of Financial Products (Circular 033/B/2010-DSB/AMCM)) (“MOX Professional Investors™) only.
Investors should not purchase the Notes in the primary or secondary markets unless they are MOX Professional Investors and understand the risks involved. The Notes are only
suitable for MOX Professional Investors.

The MOX has not reviewed the contents of this document, other than to ensure that the prescribed form disclaimer and responsibility statements, and a statement limiting distribution
of this document to MOX Professional Investors only have been reproduced in this document. Listing of the Notes on the MOX is not to be taken as an indication of the commercial
merits or credit quality of the Notes, the Issuer, the Group or the quality of disclosure in this document. The MOX takes no responsibility for the contents of this document, make no
representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the
contents of this document.

Singapore Securities and Futures Act Product Classification — Solely for the purposes of its obligations pursuant to sections 309B(1)(a) and 309B(1)(c) of the Securities and
Futures Act 2001 of Singapore (the “SFA”) and the Securities and Futures (Capital Markets Products) Regulations 2018 of Singapore (the “CMP Regulations 2018”), the Issuer has
determined, and hereby notifies all relevant persons (as defined in Section 309A of the SFA), that the Notes are “prescribed capital markets products”(as defined in the CMP
Regulations 2018).

Investing in the Notes involves certain risks. Investors should have sufficient knowledge and experience in financial and business matters to evaluate the information
contained in this Offering Circular and the merits and risks of investing in the Notes in the context of their financial position and particular circumstances. Investors also
should have the financial capacity to bear the risks associated with an investment in the Notes. Investors should not purchase the Notes unless they understand and are able
to bear risks associated with the Notes. See “Risk Factors” beginning on page 21 for a description of certain factors to be considered in connection with an investment in the
Notes.

The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), and, subject to certain exceptions, may
not be offered or sold within the United States and are only being offered and sold outside the United States in reliance on Regulation S under the Securities Act
(“Regulation S”). For a description of these and certain restrictions on offers and sales of the Notes and the distribution of this Offering Circular, see “Subscription and
Sale”.

The Notes will be represented by beneficial interests in a global note certificate (the “Global Note Certificate™) in registered form, which will be registered in the name of a nominee
of, and deposited on or about 30 August 2022 (the “Issue Date”) with, a common depositary for Euroclear Bank SA/NV (“Euroclear”) and Clearstream Banking S.A.
(“Clearstream”). Beneficial interests in the Global Note Certificate will be shown on, and transfers thereof will be effected only through, records maintained by Euroclear and
Clearstream.

The Notes are expected to be rated “A-” by Lianhe Ratings Global Limited (“Lianhe Global”) and “BBB+” by Fitch Ratings Limited (“Fitch”). The Issuer has been assigned
corporate ratings of “A-" with stable outlook by Lianhe Global and “BBB+" with stable outlook by Fitch. Such ratings of the Notes do not constitute a recommendation to buy, sell or
hold the Notes and may be subject to suspension, reduction, revision or withdrawal at any time by Lianhe Global or Fitch, as applicable. Such ratings should be evaluated
independently of any other rating of the other securities of the Issuer or of the Issuer.

Joint Global Coordinators, Joint Bookrunners and Joint Lead Managers

China International Capital Corporation CNCB Capital
Joint Bookrunners and Joint Lead Managers
Central China CMB International Shenwan Hongyuan ICBC International CEB International
International (H.K.)
China Everbright China Securities China Industrial CLSA China Galaxy Haitong Bank
Bank Hong Kong International Securities International
Branch International
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IMPORTANT NOTICE

THIS OFFERING CIRCULAR DOES NOT CONSTITUTE AN OFFER TO SELL, OR A
SOLICITATION OF AN OFFER TO BUY, ANY SECURITIES IN ANY JURISDICTION TO
ANY PERSON TO WHOM IT IS UNLAWFUL TO MAKE THE OFFER OR SOLICITATION
IN SUCH JURISDICTION. NEITHER THE DELIVERY OF THIS OFFERING CIRCULAR
NOR ANY SALE MADE HEREUNDER SHALL UNDER ANY CIRCUMSTANCES IMPLY
THAT THERE HAS BEEN NO CHANGE IN THE AFFAIRS OF THE ISSUER OR ANY OF
ITS SUBSIDIARIES OR THAT THE INFORMATION SET FORTH IN THIS OFFERING
CIRCULAR IS CORRECT AS AT ANY DATE SUBSEQUENT TO THE DATE HEREOF.

The Issuer, having made all reasonable enquiries, accepts full responsibility for the accuracy
of the information contained in this Offering Circular and confirms that to the best of its
knowledge and belief that (i) this Offering Circular (including any amendments and supplements
thereto) contains all information with respect to the Issuer and its subsidiaries (together the
“Group”), and the Notes which is material in the context of the issue, offering, sale, marketing or
distribution of the Notes (including all information which is required by applicable laws, rules and
regulations or information which, according to the particular nature of the Issuer, the Group and of
the Notes, is necessary to enable investors to make an informed assessment of the assets and
liabilities, financial position, profits and losses and prospects of the Issuer and the Group, and of
the rights attaching to the Notes), (ii) this Offering Circular does not contain any untrue statement
of a material fact or omit to state any material fact necessary to make the statements therein, in the
light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading, (iii) the statements of fact
contained in this Offering Circular are in every material respect, true and accurate and not
misleading, and there are no other facts in relation to the Issuer, the Group and the Notes the
omission of which would, in the context of the issue, offering, sale, marketing or distribution of
the Notes, make any statement in this Offering Circular misleading, (iv) the statements of
intention, opinion, belief or expectation contained in this Offering Circular are honestly and
reasonably made or held and have been reached after considering all relevant circumstances and
based on reasonable assumptions, (v) all reasonable enquiries have been made by the Issuer to
ascertain such facts and to verify the accuracy of all such information and statements, and (vi) all
statistical, industry and market related data included in this Offering Circular are derived from

sources which the Issuer believes to be accurate and reliable in all material respects.

The PRC government (including Zhengzhou SASAC) is not an obligor and shall under no
circumstances have any obligation arising out of or in connection with the Notes in lieu of the
Issuer. Any reference to government support in this Offering Circular should not be read as
indication that financial support will be given in respect of the Issuer’s obligations under the
Notes. See “Risk Factors — Risks relating to the Notes — The PRC government has no obligations

under the Notes”.



This Offering Circular has been prepared by the Issuer solely for use in connection with the
proposed offering of the Notes described in this Offering Circular. The distribution of this Offering
Circular and the issue, offering, sale, marketing or distribution of the Notes in certain jurisdictions
may be restricted by law. Persons into whose possession this Offering Circular comes are required
by China International Capital Corporation Hong Kong Securities Limited, CNCB (Hong Kong)
Capital Limited, Central China International Securities Co., Limited, CMB International Capital
Limited, Shenwan Hongyuan Securities (H.K.) Limited, ICBC International Securities Limited,
CEB International Capital Corporation Limited, China Everbright Bank Co., Ltd., Hong Kong
Branch, China Securities (International) Corporate Finance Company Limited, China Industrial
Securities International Brokerage Limited, CLSA Limited, China Galaxy International Securities
(Hong Kong) Co., Ltd and Haitong Bank, Macau Branch (each, a “Joint Lead Manager* and
together, the “Joint Lead Managers”), the Issuer, the Trustee and the Agents (as defined in
“Terms and Conditions of the Notes”) to inform themselves about and to observe any such
restrictions. No action is being taken to permit a public offering of the Notes or the possession or
distribution of this Offering Circular or any offering or publicity material relating to the Notes in
any jurisdiction where action would be required for such purposes. There are restrictions on the
issue, offering, sale, marketing or distribution of the Notes and the circulation of documents
relating thereto, in certain jurisdictions and to persons connected therewith. For a description of
certain further restrictions on offers, sales and resales of the Notes and the distribution of this
Offering Circular, see “Subscription and Sale”. This Offering Circular does not constitute an offer
of, or an invitation to purchase, any of the Notes in any jurisdiction in which such offer or
invitation would be unlawful. By purchasing the Notes, investors represent and agree to all of
those provisions contained in that section of this Offering Circular. This Offering Circular is
personal to each offeree and does not constitute an offer to any other person or to the public
generally to subscribe for, or otherwise acquire, the Notes. Distribution of this Offering Circular to
any other person other than the prospective investor and any person retained to advise such
prospective investor with respect to its purchase is unauthorised. Each prospective investor, by
accepting delivery of this Offering Circular, agrees to the foregoing and to make no photocopies of

this Offering Circular or any documents referred to in this Offering Circular.

Singapore Securities and Futures Act Product Classification — Solely for the purposes of
its obligations pursuant to sections 309B(1)(a) and 309B(1)(c) of the Securities and Futures Act
2001 of Singapore (the “SFA”) and the Securities and Futures (Capital Markets Products)
Regulations 2018 of Singapore (the “CMP Regulations 2018”), the Issuer has determined, and
hereby notifies all relevant persons (as defined in Section 309A of the SFA), that the Notes are
“prescribed capital markets products”(as defined in the CMP Regulations 2018).

This Offering Circular includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) for the
purpose of giving information with regard to the Issuer and the Group. The Issuer accepts full
responsibility for the accuracy of the information contained in this Offering Circular and confirms,
having made all reasonable enquiries, that to the best of its knowledge and belief there are no

other facts the omission of which would make any statement herein misleading.

— 11 =



No person has been or is authorised to give any information or to make any representation
concerning the Issuer, the Group, the Notes other than as contained herein and, if given or made,
any such other information or representation should not be relied upon as having been authorised
by the Issuer, the Group, the Joint Lead Managers, the Trustee or the Agents or any of their
respective affiliates, officers, representatives, directors, employees, agents or advisers. Neither the
delivery of this Offering Circular nor any issue, offering, sale, marketing or distribution of the
Notes shall, under any circumstances, constitute a representation that there has been no change or
development reasonably likely to involve a change in the affairs of the Issuer or the Group, or any
of them since the date hereof or create any implication that the information contained herein is
correct as at any date subsequent to the date hereof. This Offering Circular does not constitute an
offer of, or an invitation by or on behalf of the Issuer, the Joint Lead Managers the Trustee or the
Agents or any of their respective affiliates, officers, representatives, directors, employees, agents
or advisers to subscribe for or purchase, any of the Notes and may not be used for the purpose of
an offer to, or a solicitation by, anyone in any jurisdiction or in any circumstances in which such

offer or solicitation is not authorised or is unlawful.

This Offering Circular is being furnished by the Issuer in connection with the offering of the
Notes exempt from registration under the Securities Act solely for the purpose of enabling a
prospective investor to consider purchasing the Notes. Investors must not use this Offering
Circular for any other purpose, make copies of any part of this Offering Circular or give a copy of
it to any other person, or disclose any information in this Offering Circular to any other person.
The information contained in this Offering Circular has been provided by the Issuer and other
sources identified in this Offering Circular. Any reproduction or distribution of this Offering
Circular, in whole or in part, and any disclosure of its contents or use of any information herein
for any purpose other than considering an investment in the Notes offered by this Offering Circular
is prohibited. Each offeree of the Notes, by accepting delivery of this Offering Circular, agrees to
the foregoing.

No representation, warranty or undertaking, express or implied, is made or given and no
responsibility or liability is accepted by the Joint Lead Managers, the Trustee or the Agents or any
of their respective affiliates, officers, representatives, directors, employees, agents or advisers as to
the accuracy, completeness or sufficiency of the information contained in this Offering Circular or
any other information supplied in connection with the Notes, and nothing contained in this
Offering Circular is, or shall be relied upon as, a promise, representation or warranty by the Joint
Lead Managers, the Trustee or the Agents or any of their respective affiliates, officers,
representatives, directors, employees, agents or advisers. The Joint Lead Managers, the Trustee and
the Agents and their respective affiliates, officers, representatives, directors, employees, agents or
advisers have not independently verified any of the information contained in this Offering Circular

and can give no assurance that this information is accurate, truthful or complete.
To the fullest extent permitted by law, none of the Joint Lead Managers, the Trustee, the

Agents or any of their respective affiliates, officers, representatives, directors, employees, agents

or advisers accepts any responsibility or liability for the contents of this Offering Circular or any
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statement made or purported to be made by any such person or on its behalf in connection with the
Issuer, the Group, or the issue, offering, sale, marketing or distribution of the Notes. Each of the
Joint Lead Managers, the Trustee, the Agents and their respective affiliates, officers,
representatives, directors, employees, agents or advisers accordingly disclaims all and any liability
whether arising in tort or contract or otherwise which it might otherwise have in respect of this
Offering Circular or any such statement. None of the Joint Lead Managers, the Trustee, the Agents
or any of their respective affiliates, officers, representatives, directors, employees, agents or
advisers undertakes to review the results of operation, financial condition or affairs of the Issuer or
the Group for so long as the Notes remain outstanding nor to advise any investor or potential
investor of the Notes of any information coming to the attention of any of the Joint Lead
Managers, the Trustee, the Agents or their respective affiliates, officers, representatives, directors,

employees, agents or advisers.

This Offering Circular is not intended to provide the basis of any credit or other evaluation,
nor should it be considered as a recommendation by the Issuer, the Joint Lead Managers, the
Trustee, the Agents or any of their respective affiliates, officers, representatives, directors,
employees, agents or advisers that any recipient of this Offering Circular should purchase the
Notes. Each potential purchaser of the Notes should determine for itself the relevance of the
information contained in this Offering Circular and its purchase of the Notes should be based upon
such investigations with its own tax, legal and business advisers as it deems necessary to make its
investment decision and determine whether it is legally able to purchase the Notes under
applicable laws or regulations. Potential purchasers of the Notes are advised to read and
understand the contents of this Offering Circular before investing. If in doubt, such potential

purchaser should consult his or her adviser.

Any of the Joint Lead Managers and their respective affiliates may purchase the Notes for its
or their own account and enter into transactions, including credit derivatives, such as asset swaps,
repackaging and credit default swaps relating to the Notes and/or other securities of the Issuer or
its subsidiaries or associates at the same time as the offer and sale of the Notes or in secondary
market transactions. Such transactions may be carried out as bilateral trades with selected
counterparties and separately from any existing sale or resale of the Notes to which this Offering
Circular relates (notwithstanding that such selected counterparties may also be purchasers of the

Notes). Furthermore, investors in the Notes may include entities affiliated with the Group.

IN CONNECTION WITH THE ISSUE OF THE NOTES, ANY OF THE JOINT LEAD
MANAGERS APPOINTED AS AND ACTING IN ITS CAPACITY AS A STABILISATION
MANAGER PROVIDED THAT (OR ANY PERSON(S) ACTING ON BEHALF OF SUCH
JOINT LEAD MANAGER) (THE “STABILISATION MANAGER”) MAY OVER-ALLOT
THE NOTES OR EFFECT TRANSACTIONS WITH A VIEW TO SUPPORTING THE
PRICE OF THE NOTES AT A LEVEL HIGHER THAN THAT WHICH MIGHT
OTHERWISE PREVAIL FOR A LIMITED PERIOD AFTER THE ISSUE DATE.
HOWEVER, THERE IS NO OBLIGATION ON SUCH STABILISATION MANAGER TO DO
THIS. SUCH STABILISATION, IF COMMENCED, MAY BE DISCONTINUED AT ANY
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TIME, AND MUST BE BROUGHT TO AN END AFTER A LIMITED PERIOD. SUCH
STABILISATION SHALL BE IN COMPLIANCE WITH ALL APPLICABLE LAWS,
REGULATIONS AND RULES.

Listing of the Notes on the HKSE and on the MOX is not to be taken as an indication of the
merits of the Issuer, the Group or the Notes. In making an investment decision, investors must rely
on their own examination of the Issuer and the Group and the terms of the offering of the Notes,
including the merits and risks involved. See “Risk Factors” for a discussion of certain factors to be
considered in connection with an investment in the Notes. The Issuer, the Group, the Joint Lead
Managers, the Trustee and the Agents and their respective affiliates, officers, representatives,
directors, employees, agents or advisers are not making any representation to any purchaser of the
Notes regarding the legality of any investment in the Notes by such purchaser under any legal
investment or similar laws or regulations. The contents of this Offering Circular should not be
construed as providing legal, business, accounting or investment advice. Each person receiving this
Offering Circular acknowledges that such person has not relied on the Joint Lead Managers, the
Trustee, the Agents or any of their respective affiliates, officers, representatives, directors,
employees, agents or advisers in connection with its investigation of the accuracy of such

information or its investment decision.

Market data and certain industry forecasts and statistics in this Offering Circular have been
obtained from both public and private sources, including market research, publicly available
information and industry publications. Although the Issuer believes this information to be reliable,
such information has not been independently verified by the Issuer, the Joint Lead Managers, the
Trustee or the Agents or their respective affiliates, officers, representatives, directors, employees,
agents or advisers, and none of the Issuer, the Joint Lead Managers, the Trustee or the Agents or
their respective affiliates, officers, representatives, directors, employees, agents or advisers makes
any representation as to the accuracy or completeness of that information. In addition, third party
information providers may have obtained information from market participants and such
information may not have been independently verified. Accordingly, such information should not
be unduly relied upon. This Offering Circular summarises certain documents and other
information, and investors should refer to them for a more complete understanding of what is

discussed in those documents.

The contents of this Offering Circular have not been reviewed by any regulatory authority in
any jurisdiction. Investors are advised to exercise caution in relation to the offer. If investors are in
any doubt about any of the contents of this Offering Circular, investors should obtain independent

professional advice.



Notice to capital market intermediaries and prospective investors pursuant to paragraph 21

of the Hong Kong SFC Code of Conduct — Important Notice to Prospective Investors

Prospective investors should be aware that certain intermediaries in the context of this
offering of the Notes, including certain Joint Lead Managers, are “capital market intermediaries”
(“CMIs”) subject to Paragraph 21 of the Code of Conduct for Persons Licensed by or Registered
with the Securities and Futures Commission (the “Code”). This notice to prospective investors is a
summary of certain obligations the Code imposes on such CMIs, which require the attention and
cooperation of prospective investors. Certain CMIs may also be acting as “overall coordinators”

(“OCs”) for this offering and are subject to additional requirements under the Code.

Prospective investors who are the directors, employees or major shareholders of the Issuer, a
CMI or its group companies would be considered under the Code as having an association
(“Association”) with the Issuer, the CMI or the relevant group company. Prospective investors
associated with the Issuer or any CMI (including its group companies) should specifically disclose
this when placing an order for the Notes and should disclose, at the same time, if such orders may
negatively impact the price discovery process in relation to this offering. Prospective investors
who do not disclose their Associations are hereby deemed not to be so associated. Where
prospective investors disclose their Associations but do not disclose that such order may negatively
impact the price discovery process in relation to this offering, such order is hereby deemed not to

negatively impact the price discovery process in relation to this offering.

Prospective investors should ensure, and by placing an order prospective investors are
deemed to confirm, that orders placed are bona fide, are not inflated and do not constitute
duplicated orders (i.e. two or more corresponding or identical orders placed via two or more
CMlIs). If a prospective investor is an asset management arm affiliated with any Joint Lead
Manager, such prospective investor should indicate when placing an order if it is for a fund or
portfolio where the Joint Lead Manager or its group company has more than 50% interest, in
which case it will be classified as a “proprietary order” and subject to appropriate handling by
CMIs in accordance with the Code and should disclose, at the same time, if such “proprietary
order” may negatively impact the price discovery process in relation to this offering. Prospective
investors who do not indicate this information when placing an order are hereby deemed to
confirm that their order is not such a “proprietary order”. If a prospective investor is otherwise
affiliated with any Joint Lead Manager, such that its order may be considered to be a “proprietary
order” (pursuant to the Code), such prospective investor should indicate to the relevant Joint Lead
Manager when placing such order. Prospective investors who do not indicate this information when
placing an order are hereby deemed to confirm that their order is not such a “proprietary order”.
Where prospective investors disclose such information but do not disclose that such “proprietary
order” may negatively impact the price discovery process in relation to this offering, such
“proprietary order” is hereby deemed not to negatively impact the price discovery process in

relation to this offering.
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Prospective investors should be aware that certain information may be disclosed by CMIs
(including Private Banks) which is personal and/or confidential in nature to the prospective
investor. By placing an order, prospective investors are deemed to have understood and consented
to the collection, disclosure, use and transfer of such information by the Joint Lead Managers
and/or any other third parties as may be required by the Code, including to the Issuer, any OCs,
relevant regulators and/or any other third parties as may be required by the Code, it being
understood and agreed that such information shall only be used for the purpose of complying with
the Code, during the bookbuilding process for this offering. Failure to provide such information

may result in that order being rejected.
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PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

This Offering Circular contains the audited consolidated financial information of the Issuer as
at and for the years ended 31 December 2019, 2020 and 2021, which is derived from its audited
consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended 31 December 2020 (the “2020
Audited Financial Statements”) and its audited consolidated financial statements as at and for the
year ended 31 December 2021 (the “2021 Audited Financial Statements”, together with the 2020
Audited Financial Statements, the “Audited Financial Statements”) included elsewhere in this
Offering Circular. The Audited Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with the
Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises in China (“PRC GAAP”) and have been audited by
Asia Pacific (Group) CPAs (special general partnership) (B0 A (2 B & 51 Al 515 T (R 48
%)) (“AP CPA”).

The Group has adopted a number of new accounting standards issued by the MOF
(collectively, the “New Accounting Standards”) starting from 1 January 2021, including but not
limited to the Notice on Issuing and Revising the Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises
No. 22 — Recognition and Measurement of Financial Instruments issued by MOF (Cai Kuai
[2017] No. 7), the Notice on Issuing and Revising the Accounting Standards for Business
Enterprises No. 23 — Transfer of Financial Assets (Cai Kuai [2017] No. 8), the Notice on Issuing
and Revising the Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises No. 24 — Hedging Accounting
(Cai Kuai [2017] No. 9), the Notice on Issuing the Amendment of Accounting Standards for
Business Enterprises No. 37 — Presentation of Financial Instruments (Cai Kuai [2017] No. 14),
the Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises No. 14 — Revenue (Revised in 2017) issued by
MOF on December 9, 2017 (Cai Kuai [2017] No. 22), the Circular of MOF on Printing and
Distributing the Interpretation of Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises No. 14 (Caikuai
[2021] No. 1) and relevant provisions of the Accounting Department of MOF on the
Implementation of Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises (the Fifth Batch). As a result of
the application of such new accounting standards, certain adjustments were made to the financial
statements. For details of such new accounting standards and their impact on the 2021 Audited
Financial Statements, please refer to “Notes to Financial Statements — III. Important accounting
policies and accounting estimates — (32) Important accounting policies and accounting estimate

change” of the 2021 Audited Financial Statements included elsewhere in this Offering Circular.

The Audited Financial Statements are originally prepared in the Chinese language
(collectively, the “Chinese Financial Statements”) and have been translated into English (the
“Financial Statements Translation”) for the purposes of inclusion in this Offering Circular for
reference purposes only. Should there be any inconsistency between the Chinese Financial
Statements and the Financial Statements Translation, the Chinese Financial Statements shall
prevail. The Financial Statements Translation does not itself constitute audited financial
statements, and is qualified in its entirety by, and is subject to, the financial information set out or
referred to in, the Chinese Financial Statements. The Chinese Financial Statements are available at

the following website: www.chinamoney.com.cn. None of the Joint Lead Managers or their
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respective affiliates, officers, representatives, directors, employees, agents or advisers have
independently verified or checked the accuracy of the Financial Statements Translation and can

give no assurance that the information contained therein is accurate, truthful or complete.

PRC GAAP differs in certain material respects from the International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRS”). For a discussion of certain differences between PRC GAAP and IFRS, see
“Summary of Significant Differences between PRC GAAP and IFRS”.

The Group publishes, in the PRC, its interim financial information from time to time. Such
financial information published by the Group in the PRC is normally derived from its management
accounts and is not audited or reviewed by independent auditors. As such, financial information
published in the PRC by the Group should not be relied upon by potential purchasers to provide
the same quality of information associated with any audited or reviewed information. Such
financial information is not included in this Offering Circular and should not be relied upon by

any investors in making their investment decisions in the Notes.

Unless otherwise stated, all financial information contained herein which is stated as relating

to the Issuer refers to the consolidated financial information of the Group.

According to the Circular of the National Development and Reform Commission and the
Ministry of Finance on Improvement of Market Regulatory Regime and Strict Prevention of
Foreign Debt Risks and Local Government Indebtedness Risks (Fa Gai Wai Zi [2018] No. 706) ([
5% 9% R DRV 22 B IR B S = I 355 A6 SRR ) B A% 197 R A/ B 0 1t D GRS B 4 2 R (B SO
[2018]706%%)) (“Joint Circular 706™), any public interest assets such as public schools, public
hospitals, public cultural facilities, parks, public squares, office buildings of government
departments and public institutions, municipal roads, non-toll bridges, non-operating water
conservancy facilities, no-charge pipe network facilities and other public interest assets and the
usage rights of reserve land cannot be counted towards the Group’s assets for the purposes of
issuing medium and long-term foreign debt. As at 31 December 2021, certain assets that the Group
currently holds title to serve public functions. As at 31 December 2021, such assets amounted to
approximately RMB14,590.5 million, representing approximately 30.64 per cent. of the Group’s
total assets and 76.79 per cent. of the Group’s total net assets. See “Risk Factors — Risks relating
to the Notes — Any public interest assets of the Group should not be taken into account when
evaluating the Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects are

assessed” for further information.

—iX —



CERTAIN DEFINITIONS AND CONVENTIONS

Unless the context otherwise requires, references in this Offering Circular to “Renminbi”,
“CNY” and “RMB” are to the lawful currency of the PRC, “U.S. dollars”, “U.S.$” and “USD” are
to the lawful currency of the United States of America (the “United States”), “PRC” and “China”
are to the People’s Republic of China which for the purpose of this Offering Circular excludes
Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan, “Hong Kong” are to the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region of the People’s Republic of China, and “Macau” are to the Macau Special Administrative

Region of the People’s Republic of China.

Solely for convenience, this Offering Circular contains translations of certain Renminbi
amounts into U.S. dollars at specified rates. Unless indicated otherwise, the translation of
Renminbi into U.S. dollars has been made at the rate of RMB6.3726 to U.S.$1.00, the noon buying
rate in effect on 30 December 2021 as set forth in the H.10 weekly statistical release of the Board
of Governors of the Federal Reserve System of the United States (the “Federal Reserve Board”).
Further information on exchange rates is set forth in “Exchange Rate Information” in this Offering
Circular. Investors should not construe these translations as representations that the Renminbi
amounts have been, could have been or could actually be converted into any U.S. dollar amounts

at any particular rate or at all, or vice versa.

Unless the context otherwise requires, references in this Offering Circular to the “Terms and
Conditions of the Notes” are to the terms and conditions governing the Notes, as set out in

“Terms and Conditions of the Notes”.

In this Offering Circular, where information has been presented in thousands, millions, or
billions of units, amounts may have been rounded up or down. Accordingly, totals of columns or
rows of numbers in tables may not be equal to the apparent total of the individual items and actual
numbers may differ from those contained herein due to rounding. References to information in

billions of units are to the equivalent of a thousand million units.

Unless specified otherwise, references in this Offering Circular to, and financial and other
information presented with respect to, the Group are to such information of the Issuer compiled on
a consolidated basis.

The English names of the PRC nationals, entities, departments, facilities, laws, regulations,
certificates titles and the like are translations of their Chinese names and are included for
identification purposes only. In the event of any inconsistency, the Chinese names prevail.

In this Offering Circular, references to:

. “GDP” are to gross domestic product;

o the “Group” are to the Issuer and its subsidiaries taken as a whole;



the “Issuer” are to Zhengzhou Urban Construction Investment Group Co., Ltd. (gw‘l‘lﬁ
R E R E A RA A

“IFRS” are to the International Financial Reporting Standards;
“MOF” are to the Ministry of Finance of the PRC;

“MOFCOM” are to the Ministry of Commerce of the PRC or its competent local

counterpart;

“mu” (@A) are to the unit of land areas, and one mu equals to approximately 666.67

sq.m.;

“NDRC” are to the National Development and Reform Commission of the PRC or its

competent local counterpart;

“Noteholder(s)” are to the holder(s) of the Notes;

“PBOC” are to the People’s Bank of China, the central bank of the PRC;

“PPP” are to public-private-partnerships;

“PRC government” are to the central government of China and its political
subdivisions, including provincial, municipal and other regional or local government

entities, and instrumentalities thereof, or where the context requires, any of them;

“SAFE” are to the State Administration of Foreign Exchange of the PRC or its

competent local counterparts;

“SASAC” are to State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration Commission of the

State Council (75 A & e BB EMZE B ),

“SAT” are to the State Administration of Taxation of the PRC;
“State Council” are to the state council of the PRC;

“VAT” are to value-added tax;

“Zhengzhou Municipal Government” are to Zhengzhou Municipal People’s

Government (¥ i A REUR); and
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. “Zhengzhou SASAC” are to the State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration
Commission of Zhengzhou Municipal People’s Government (¥ i A R BUR A & 2
EEEHZAY).

In this Offering Circular, “net assets” is defined as the amount equal to total assets minus

total liabilities.
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Offering Circular includes certain forward-looking statements. All statements other than
statements of historical fact contained in this Offering Circular, including, without limitation, those
regarding the Group’s future financial position and results of operations, strategy, plans,
objectives, goals and targets, future developments in the markets where the Group participates or

is seeking to participate, and any statements preceded by, followed by or that include the words

ER] 3

“believe”, “expect”, “aim”, “intend”, “will”, “may”, “anticipate”, “seek”, “should”, “estimate” or
similar expressions or the negative thereof, constitute “forward-looking statements”. All statements
regarding expected financial condition and results of operations, business plans and prospects are
forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements include but are not limited to
statements as to the business strategy, operating income and profitability, planned projects and
other matters as they relate to the Issuer and/or the Group discussed in this Offering Circular
regarding matters that are not historical fact. These forward-looking statements and any other
projections contained in this Offering Circular (whether made by the Issuer or by any third party)
involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors, some of which are beyond the
Group’s control, which may cause its actual results, performance or achievements, or industry
results to be materially different from any future results, performance or achievements expressed
or implied by the forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements are based on
numerous assumptions regarding the Group’s present and future business strategies and the
environment in which the Group will operate in the future. Important factors that could cause the
Group’s actual results, performance or achievements to differ materially from those in the

forward-looking statements or other projections include, among others, the following:

. the Group’s dependence on long-term government contracts, which are subject to the

government’s fiscal policies;

. the possibility that any of the Group’s existing government contracts may be terminated

by the government;

. changes in competitive conditions and the Group’s ability to compete under these

conditions, including the actions and developments of competitors;

. the Group’s expectations with respect to its ability to acquire and maintain regulatory

qualifications required to operate its business;

. the availability and charges of bank loans and other forms of financing;

. changes or volatility in currency exchange rates, interest rates, taxes and duties, equity

prices or other rates or prices, including those pertaining to the PRC;

— xiil —



. changes in the laws, rules and regulations of the governments in the PRC and the rules,
regulations and policies of the relevant governmental authorities relating to all aspects

of the Group’s business;

. the general economic, political, social conditions and developments in the PRC;
. macroeconomic policies of the PRC government; and
. other factors beyond the Group’s control.

These forward-looking statements speak only as at the date of this Offering Circular. The
Issuer expressly disclaims any obligation or undertaking to release publicly any updates or
revisions to any forward-looking statement contained herein to reflect any change in the Group’s
expectations with regard thereto or any change of events, conditions or circumstances, on which

any such statement was based.

Additional factors that could cause actual results, performance or achievements to differ
materially include, but are not limited to, those discussed in “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this
Offering Circular. The Issuer cautions investors not to place undue reliance on these
forward-looking statements which reflect the management’s view only as at the date of this

Offering Circular.

The Issuer does not undertake any obligation to update or revise any forward-looking
statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise. In light of these
risks, uncertainties and assumptions, the forward-looking events discussed in this Offering Circular

might not occur.
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SUMMARY

The summary below is only intended to provide a limited overview of information described
in more detail elsewhere in this Offering Circular. As it is a summary, it does not contain all the
information that may be important to investors. Prospective investors should therefore read this
Offering Circular in its entirety, including the section entitled “Risk Factors”, before making an
investment decision. Terms defined elsewhere in this Offering Circular shall have the same

meanings when used in this summary.

Overview

Established on 28 December 2007 with the approval of Zhengzhou Municipal Government,
the Issuer is a wholly state-owned enterprise that serves as one of the most important investment
and financing platforms for infrastructure construction in Zhengzhou under the direct supervision
and administration of Zhengzhou SASAC. The Group finances, develops and operates Zhengzhou’s
key infrastructure. The Group has participated in a wide range of infrastructure construction
projects including key public facilities, major roadways and stations and resettlement housings. Its
extensive operational experience over key infrastructure construction projects in Zhengzhou has
provided it with in-depth regional knowledge and strong technical capabilities that allows it to
handle large and complex construction projects. The Group’s businesses can be categorised into
four principal business segments, namely, PPP project investment and management, project

settlement and construction, hotel operation and ancillary businesses:

. PPP project investment and management: PPP project investment and management is
the core business segment of the Group. The Group is a key infrastructure investor and
PPP project investment and management service provider in Zhengzhou, ensuring the
continuous operation and maintenance of major infrastructure such as highways, roads,
bridges and tunnels. For the years ended 31 December 2019, 2020 and 2021, revenue
attributed to the Group’s PPP project investment and management business was
RMB628.7 million, RMB628.7 million and RMB27.2 million, respectively, representing
51.2 per cent., 54.8 per cent. and 2.3 per cent. of the Group’s total revenue, respectively.
Due to the implementation of the relevant applicable New Accounting Policies and
Requirements since 2021, revenue recognition policies for the existing PPP projects of
the Group have been changed. Under the new revenue recognition policies, the revenue
attributed to the Group’s PPP project investment and management decreased
significantly for the year ended 31 December 2021 compared to revenue that would
have been recognised under the prior accounting policies. The Group expects that, going
forward, with the diversification of its businesses and after the commencement of
operations of various PPP projects of the Group, revenue from the Group’s PPP project
investment and management will become more stable and gradually increase. See “Risk

Factors — Risks relating to Financial and Other Information — Certain accounting




items in the Audited Financial Statements may not be comparable to the financial
information in the consolidated financial statements of the Issuer for the previous

periods”.

Project settlement and construction: The Group is a key contractor for the development
and construction of public infrastructure in Zhengzhou. This business complements the
Group’s PPP project investment and management business. The Group participated in
the construction of key infrastructure projects including Zhengzhou Grand Theatre (45|
KBIBE), Zhengzhou Community Centre (ERJNTT R IGE H.0>) and Zhongyuan New
District Project (F1J5#7[&#). For the years ended 31 December 2019, 2020 and 2021,
revenue attributed to the Group’s project settlement and construction business was
RMB138.7 million, RMB351.8 million and RMB964.7 million, respectively,
representing 11.3 per cent.,, 30.6 per cent. and 81.5 per cent. of the Group’s total
revenue, respectively. Due to the implementation of the relevant applicable New
Accounting Policies and Requirements since 2021, revenue derived from the Group’s
Jialu River Comprehensive Management Ecological Greening Engineering PPP Project
(H B4R AR M AE e 4%/ TH#EPPPIH H) in the current stage of construction has been
recognised in accordance with the construction progress under the item “project
settlement and basic construction income” reported in the audited consolidated financial
statements as at and for the year ended 31 December 2021. Under the new revenue
recognition policies, the revenue attributed to the Group’s project settlement and
construction business increased significantly for the year ended 31 December 2021
compared to the revenue that would have been recognised under the prior accounting
policies. The Group expects that, going forward, with the diversification of its
businesses, revenue from project settlement and construction will continue to be higher
than revenue recognised in prior periods. See “Risk Factors — Risks relating to
Financial and Other Information — Certain accounting items in the Audited Financial
Statements may not be comparable to the financial information in the consolidated

financial statements of the Issuer for the previous periods”.

Hotel operation: The Group operates two hotels, Zhengzhou Yellow River Hotel and
Zhengzhou Mount Song Hotel. For the years ended 31 December 2019, 2020 and 2021,
revenue attributed to the Group’s hotel operation business was RMB147.9 million,
RMB99.0 million and RMB104.2 million, respectively, representing 12.1 per cent., 8.6

per cent. and 8.8 per cent. of the Group’s total revenue, respectively.

Ancillary businesses: The Group has been expanding its scope of businesses to diversify
its sources of revenue. These ancillary businesses include management consultancy,

trading, technology service and precast construction.




The following table sets forth a breakdown of the Group’s total revenue by business segment

in absolute amounts and as a percentage of its total revenue for the periods indicated:

PPP project investment and
management” . .. ... ...

Project settlement and
construction® . .. ... ...

Hotel Operation® . ... ...

Ancillary Businesses™ . . . .

Notes:

Year ended 31 December

2019 2020 2021

RMB Per cent. of RMB Per cent. of RMB Per cent. of

(million) total (million) total (million) total
628.7 51.2 628.7 54.8 27.2 2.3
138.7 11.3 351.8 30.6 964.7 81.5
147.9 12.1 99.0 8.6 104.2 8.8
311.5 25.4 68.8 6.0 88.2 7.4
1,226.80 100.0 1,148.30 100.0 1,184.3 100.0

(1)  Revenue from this business comprises revenues from “PPP income” reported in the Audited Financial Statements of

the respective period.

(2)  Revenue from this business comprises revenues from “project settlement and basic construction income” reported in

the Audited Financial Statements of the respective period.

(3) Revenue from this business comprises revenues from “hotel operating income” reported in the Audited Financial

Statements of the respective period.

(4)  Revenue from this business comprises revenues from “management consulting income

LIS

business service income”,

“technical service income”, “prefabricated components income” and “other business income” reported in the

Audited Financial Statements of the respective period.




The following table sets forth a breakdown of the Group’s gross profit or gross loss by

business segment for the periods indicated:

Year ended 31 December

2019 2020 2021
RMB Per cent. of RMB Per cent. of RMB Per cent. of
(million) total (million) total (million) total
PPP project investment and
management” . .. ... ... 235.3 47.1 235.3 56.8 2.2 1.2
Project settlement and
construction® . .. ... ... 54.3 10.9 109.2 26.4 65.9 34.4
Hotel Operation® . ... ... 114.8 23.0 74.8 18.1 78.3 40.9
Ancillary Businesses® . . .. 95.5 19.1 -5.0 -1.2 45.3 23.6
Total.................. 499.9 100.0 414.3 100.0 191.7 100.0

()

3)

)

Gross profit from this business is calculated from deducting costs of sales from revenues of “PPP income” reported
in the Audited Financial Statements of the respective period.

Gross profit from this business is calculated from deducting costs of sales from revenues of “project settlement and
basic construction income” or the sum of “project settlement income” and “basic construction income” reported in

the Audited Financial Statements of the respective period.

Gross profit from this business is calculated from deducting costs of sales from revenues of “hotel operating
income” reported in the Audited Financial Statements of the respective period.

Gross profit from this business is calculated from deducting costs of sales from revenues of “management
» o« »

consulting income”, “business service income”, “technical service income”, “prefabricated components income” and

“other business income” reported in the Audited Financial Statements of the respective period.

As at 31 December 2019, 2020 and 2021, the Group’s total assets were RMB42,322.2

million, RMB44,090.2 million and RMB47,612.0 million, respectively. For the years ended 31
December 2019, 2020 and 2021, the Group’s net profit was RMB42.1 million, RMB20.9 million
and RMB49.9 million, respectively. As at the date of this Offering Circular, the Issuer had a
registered capital of RMB1,000 million.

Competitive Strengths

The Group believes that its competitive strengths as outlined below distinguish it from its

competitors and are important to its success and future development:

. strategic relationship with and support from Zhengzhou Municipal Government;

. key role in the development of Zhengzhou’s infrastructure sector;




. sound and effective risk management system and prudent financial structure;

. strong financing capability with diversified financing channels; and
. dedicated senior management with extensive experience and in-depth industry
knowledge.

Business Strategies

The Group strives to strengthen its position as the key integrated infrastructure construction

group in Zhengzhou. To achieve this goal, the Group plans to adopt the following strategies:

. maintain the Group’s position as a major infrastructure investment, construction and

management service provider in Zhengzhou;

. continue to focus on and improve productivity and operational efficiency; and

. continue to explore diverse financing channels and optimise the Group’s debt structure.

Recent Development

Issuance of debt instruments since 31 December 2021

In January 2022, the Issuer issued medium-term notes with an aggregate principal amount of
RMB700 million with an interest rate of 3.13 per cent. These medium-term notes will mature on
27 January 2025.

In June 2022, the Issuer issued privately placed corporate bonds with an aggregate principal
amount of RMB1,000 million with an interest rate of 3.89 per cent. These corporate bonds will
mature on 29 June 2027.

In August 2022, the Issuer issued privately placed corporate bonds with an aggregate
principal amount of RMB500 million with an interest rate of 3.48 per cent. These corporate bonds

will mature on 17 August 2027.

Unaudited and unreviewed interim financial accounts

The Issuer has prepared its unaudited and unreviewed consolidated management accounts as
at and for the six months ended 30 June 2022 (the “2022 Interim Accounts”). No audit or review
has been performed on the 2022 Interim Accounts and the financial information in the 2022
Interim Accounts may change if it is subject to an audit or a review. Such unaudited and
unreviewed assessment should not be taken as an indication of the Group’s business, financial

condition or results of operation expected for these periods and potential investors should not rely




on such interim financial information to evaluate the Group’s financial condition and results of
operation for these periods or the full year ending 31 December 2022. Interim results are not
necessarily indicative of the Group’s results to be expected for the full year. The 2022 Interim
Accounts does not form part of this Offering Circular and should not be referred to or relied upon
by potential investors. Potential investors must exercise extensive caution when using such

information to evaluate the Group’s financial condition and results of operations.

According to the unaudited and unreviewed 2022 Interim Accounts, the Group recorded a
slight decrease in its total revenue for the six months ended 30 June 2022 as compared to the
corresponding period in 2021. The Group recorded an increase in its total cost of sales for the six
months ended 30 June 2022 as compared to the corresponding period in 2021 primarily due to a
significant increase in cost of sales, which was partially offset by the decreases in taxes and
surcharges, selling expense, general and administrative expenses and the significant decreases in
financial expenses. The Group recorded a slight reduction in the net loss for the six months ended
30 June 2022 as compared to the net loss for the corresponding period in 2021 primarily as a
result of the decreases in financial expenses and selling expense and increases in non-operating

income during the six months ended 30 June 2022.

According to the unaudited and unreviewed 2022 Interim Accounts, the Group recorded a
moderate increase in total assets as at 30 June 2022 as compared to that as at 31 December 2021,
primarily due to increases in cash and cash on hand, accounts receivable, advances to suppliers,
other receivables, inventory, long-term equity investment, construction in progress, deferred tax
assets and other non-current assets, which were partially offset primarily by the decrease in notes
receivable (as a result of the settlement of such notes) and mild decreases in other current assets,

fixed assets, intangible assets and long-term prepaid expenses.

According to the unaudited and unreviewed 2022 Interim Accounts, the Group’s total current
liabilities as at 30 June 2022 as compared to that as at 31 December 2021 was lower primarily due
to the decreases in short-term borrowings, receipts in advance, contractual liabilities, other
payables and current portion of non-current liabilities, which were partially offset by increases in
accounts payable and payroll and employee benefits payable. The Group’s total non-current
liabilities as at 30 June 2022 as compared to that as at 31 December 2021 was higher due
primarily to increases in the Group’s long-term borrowings, bonds payable, deferred income and

other non-current liabilities, which were partially offset by the decrease in deferred tax liabilities.

None of the Joint Lead Managers, the Trustee, the Agents, or any of their respective
affiliates, officers, representatives, directors, employees, agents or advisers makes any
representation, warranty or undertaking, express or implied of, or accepts any responsibility or
liability with respect to, the Group or the Group’s business, financial condition or results of

operation.




THE OFFERING

The following summary contains some basic information about the Notes and is qualified in

its entirety by the remainder of this Offering Circular. Some of the terms described below are

subject to important limitations and exceptions. Words and expressions defined in “Terms and

Conditions of the Notes” shall have the same meanings in this summary. For a complete

description of the terms of the Notes, see “Terms and Conditions of the Notes” in this Offering

Circular.

Issuer

Notes

Issue Price

Form and Denomination

Interest

Issue Date

Maturity Date

Status of the Notes

Zhengzhou Urban Construction Investment Group Co., Ltd.

(BB I SR [ G A BR/AF])  (Legal Entity  Identifier:
300300KEJJOEEIMVS913).

U.S.$350,000,000 5.20 per cent. Notes due 2025.
100.0 per cent.

The Notes will be issued in registered form in the
denominations of U.S.$200,000 and integral multiples of
U.S.$1,000 in excess thereof.

The Notes will bear interest from 30 August 2022 at the
rate of 5.20 per cent. per annum, payable semi-annually in
arrear in equal instalments falling on 28 February and 30
August in each year (each, an “Interest Payment Date”),
commencing on 28 February 2023, subject as provided in
Condition 6 (Payments) of the Terms and Conditions of the
Notes.

30 August 2022.
30 August 2025.

The Notes when issued will constitute direct, general,
unsubordinated, unconditional and (subject to Condition
3(a) (Negative Pledge) of the Terms and Conditions of the
Notes) unsecured obligations of the Issuer which will at all
times rank pari passu among themselves and at least pari
passu with all other present and future unsecured and
unsubordinated obligations of the Issuer, save for such
obligations as may be preferred by provisions of law that

are both mandatory and of general application.




Negative Pledge

NDRC Post-issue Reporting

The Notes will contain a negative pledge provision as
further described in Condition 3(a) (Negative Pledge) of the

Terms and Conditions of the Notes.

The Issuer will undertake to file or cause to be filed with
the NDRC the requisite information and documents within
the prescribed timeframe after the Issue Date in accordance
with the Circular on Promoting the Reform of the
Administrative System on the Issuance by Enterprises of
Foreign Debt Filings and Registrations ([2 %< %% J& i E Z
TP A A SE R AT MU 52 5 R A P S P N (B UM R
[2015]2044%%)) issued by the NDRC and which came into
effect on 14 September 2015, and any implementation
rules, reports, certificates, approvals or guidelines as issued
by the NDRC from time to time (the “NDRC Post-issue
Reporting”). The Issuer shall submit the NDRC Post-issue
Reporting within the prescribed timeframe after the Issue
Date and shall comply with all applicable PRC laws and

regulations in connection with the Notes.

The Issuer shall within 10 PRC Business Days after the
submission of such NDRC Post-issue Reporting (i) provide
the Trustee with a certificate (substantially in the form
scheduled to the Trust Deed) signed by an Authorised
Signatory confirming the submission of the NDRC
Post-issue Reporting (together with a copy of the relevant
document(s), if any, evidencing due filing with the NDRC)
and (ii) give notice to the Noteholders in accordance with
Condition 15 (Notices) confirming the submission of the
NDRC Post-issue Reporting.




Foreign Debt Registration

Redemption at Maturity

The Issuer will undertake to file or cause to be filed with
SAFE the requisite information and documents within the
prescribed timeframe in accordance with (i) the
Administrative Measures for Foreign Debt Registration (¥}
BB FCE M) issued by SAFE and which came into
effect on 13 May 2013, and (ii) the Circular on Relevant
Matters about the Macro-Prudential Management of
Cross-Border Financing in Full Aperture (91 A RR1T

RAEDEEEAE ZBFHEMABREEMNER) issued
by the PBOC and which came into effect on 12 January
2017 and any implementation rules, reports, certificates,
approvals or guidelines as issued by SAFE or the PBOC, as
the case may be, from time to time (the “Foreign Debt

Registration”).

The Issuer shall complete the Foreign Debt Registration on
or before the SAFE Registration Deadline and shall within
ten PRC Business Days after receipt of a registration
certificate from SAFE (or any other document evidencing
the completion of the Foreign Debt Registration issued by
SAFE), (i) provide the Trustee with a certificate
(substantially in the form scheduled to the Trust Deed)
signed by an Authorised Signatory confirming the
completion of the Foreign Debt Registration (together with
a copy of the relevant document(s) (x) filed with SAFE and
(y) issued by SAFE evidencing the completion of the
Foreign Debt Registration) and (ii) give notice to the
Noteholders in accordance with Condition 15 (Notices) of
the Terms and Conditions of the Notes confirming the

completion of the Foreign Debt Registration.

Unless previously redeemed, or purchased and cancelled,
the Notes will be redeemed at their principal amount on the
Maturity Date, subject as provided in Condition 6

(Payments) of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes.




Taxation

Redemption for Taxation Reasons

All payments of principal, premium (if any) and interest in
respect of the Notes by or on behalf of the Issuer shall be
made free and clear of, and without withholding or
deduction for or on account of, any present or future taxes,
duties, assessments or governmental charges of whatever
nature imposed, levied, collected, withheld or assessed by
or on behalf of the PRC or any political subdivision thereof
or any authority therein or thereof having power to tax,
unless the withholding or deduction of such taxes, duties,

assessments or governmental charges is required by law.

Where such withholding or deduction is made by the Issuer
by or within the PRC at the rate up to and including the
rate applicable on 24 August 2022 (the ‘“Applicable
Rate”), the Issuer will pay such additional amounts as will
result in receipt by the Noteholders after such withholding
or deduction of such amounts as would have been received
by them had no such withholding or deduction been

required.

If the Issuer is required to make a deduction or withholding
by or within the PRC, in excess of the Applicable Rate, the
Issuer shall pay such additional amounts (the “Additional
Tax Amounts”) as will result in receipt by the Noteholders
after such withholding or deduction of such amounts as
would have been received by them had no such withholding
or deduction been required, except that no such Additional
Tax Amounts shall be payable in respect of any Note in the
circumstances set out in Condition 7 (Taxation) of the

Terms and Conditions of the Notes.

The Notes may be redeemed at the option of the Issuer in
whole, but not in part, at any time, on giving not less than
30 nor more than 60 days’ notice to the Noteholders (which
notice shall be irrevocable) at their principal amount,
together with interest accrued to (but not including) the
date fixed for redemption, if, immediately before giving

such notice, the Issuer satisfies the Trustee that:
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Redemption for a Relevant Event

(i) the Issuer has or will become obliged to pay
Additional Tax Amounts as a result of any change in,
or amendment to, the laws or regulations of the PRC
or any political subdivision or any authority thereof or
therein having power to tax, or any change in the
application or official interpretation of such laws or
regulations (including a holding by a court of
competent jurisdiction), which change or amendment

becomes effective on or after 24 August 2022; and

(i1) such obligation cannot be avoided by the Issuer taking

reasonable measures available to it,

provided, however, that no such notice of redemption
shall be given earlier than 90 days prior to the earliest date
on which the Issuer would be obliged to pay such
Additional Tax Amounts if a payment in respect of the

Notes were then due.

At any time following the occurrence of a Relevant Event,
each Noteholder will have the right, at such Noteholder’s
option, to require the Issuer to redeem all but not some
only of that Noteholder’s Notes on the Put Settlement Date
at 101 per cent. of their principal amount (in the case of a
redemption for Change of Control) or 100 per cent. of their
principal amount (in the case of a redemption for
Non-Registration Event), in each case, together with
interest accrued to (but not including) such Put Settlement
Date, as further described in Condition 5(c) (Redemption
for a Relevant Event) of the Terms and Conditions of the
Notes.

a “Change of Control“ occurs when:

(i) Zhengzhou Municipal Government and/or State-owned
Assets Supervision and Administration Commission of
Zhengzhou Municipal People’s Government (%5 i A
REBUNE A &EEEEMZEE) and/or any other
persons and entities (directly or indirectly) Controlled
by central government of the PRC (each a
“Government Person”), together, ceases to Control

the Issuer; or

— 11 =




(ii) the Issuer consolidates with or merges into or sells or
transfers all or substantially all of its assets to any
other person or persons, acting together, except where
such person(s) is/are Controlled, directly or indirectly

by a Government Person;

“Control” means with respect to a Person (where
applicable): (i) the ownership or control of 100 per cent. of
the issued share capital of such Person; or (ii) the
possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to nominate
or designate all members then in office of such Person’s
board of directors or other governing body, in respect of (i)
or (ii) whether obtained directly or indirectly, and whether
obtained by ownership of share capital, the possession of
voting rights, contract or otherwise. For the avoidance of
doubt, a Person is deemed to Control another Person so
long as it fulfils one of the two foregoing requirements and
the terms “Controlling” and “Controlled” have meanings

correlative to the foregoing;

a “Non-Registration Event” occurs when the Registration
Condition has not been satisfied on or prior to the SAFE

Registration Deadline;

“Registration Condition” means the receipt of the
certificate referred to in Condition 3(d) (Registration with
SAFE) of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes and a
copy of the Registration Documents by the Trustee and the
publication of the notice to Noteholders of completion of
the Foreign Debt Registration in accordance with Condition
3(d) (Registration with SAFE) of the Terms and Conditions
of the Notes;

a “Relevant Event” means a Change of Control or a

Non-Registration Event;

“SAFE Registration Deadline” means the day falling 120
PRC Business Days after the Issue Date; and

“Zhengzhou Municipal Government” means the
Zhengzhou Municipal People’s Government (¥ i A R IEL
JiF).
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Events of Default

Cross-Default

Clearing Systems

Common Code

ISIN

Governing Law

Trustee and Principal Paying

Agent

Registrar and Transfer Agent

Listing

Upon the occurrence of certain events as described in
Condition 8 (Events of Default) of the Terms and
Conditions of the Notes, the Trustee at its discretion may
and, if so requested in writing by Noteholders of at least
one quarter of the aggregate principal amount of the
outstanding Notes or if so directed by an Extraordinary
Resolution, shall (subject to the Trustee having been
indemnified and/or provided with security and/or
pre-funded to its satisfaction) give written notice to the
Issuer declaring the Notes to be immediately due and
payable, whereupon they shall become immediately due and
payable at their principal amount together with accrued

interest without further action or formality.

The Notes will contain a cross-default provision as further
described in Condition 8(c) (Cross-default of the Issuer or
Subsidiary) of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes.

The Notes will be represented by beneficial interests in the
Global Note Certificate in registered form, which will be
registered in the name of a nominee of, and deposited on or
about the Issue Date with, a common depositary for
Euroclear and Clearstream. Beneficial interests in the
Global Note Certificate will be shown on, and transfers
thereof will be effected only through, records maintained

by Euroclear and Clearstream.

249970093.

XS2499700933.

English law.

The Bank of New York Mellon, London Branch.

The Bank of New York Mellon SA/NV, Luxembourg

Branch.

Application will be made to the HKSE for the listing of,
and permission to deal in, the Notes on the HKSE by way
of debt issues to Professional Investors only and such
permission is expected to become effective on or about 31
August 2022.

—13 -
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Use of Proceeds

Ratings

Further Issues

Selling Restrictions

Application will be made to the MOX for the listing of the
Notes by way of debt issues to the MOX Professional
Investors only, and such listing will be subject to the
MOX’s approval. Admission to the listing of the Notes on
the MOX shall not be taken as an indication of the merits

of the Issuer, the Group or the Notes.

See “Use of Proceeds”.

The Notes are expected to be rated “A-" by Lianhe Global
and “BBB+” by Fitch. Such ratings of the Notes does not
constitute a recommendation by Lianhe Global or Fitch to
buy, sell or hold the Notes and may be subject to
suspension, reduction, revision or withdrawal at any time
by Lianhe Global or Fitch, as applicable. Such ratings
should be evaluated independently of any other rating of

the other securities of the Issuer or of the Issuer.

The Issuer may from time to time, without the consent of
the Noteholders and in accordance with the Trust Deed,
create and issue further notes having the same terms and
conditions as the Notes in all respects (or in all respects
except for the issue date, the first payment of interest and
the timing to perform and complete the NDRC Post-issue
Reporting and the Foreign Debt Registration) so as to form
a single series with the Notes, as further described in
Condition 14 (Further Issues) of the Terms and Conditions
of the Notes.

For a description of certain restrictions on offers, sales and
deliveries of Notes and on the distribution of offering
material in the United States, the United Kingdom, Hong
Kong, the PRC, Singapore, Japan and Macau, see

“Subscription and Sale” below.
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE GROUP

The summary consolidated financial information of the Group as at and for the year ended 31
December 2019 (excluding other financial data) as set forth below is extracted from the 2020
Audited Financial Statements. The summary consolidated financial information of the Group as at
and for the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2021 (excluding other financial data) as set forth
below is extracted from the 2021 Audited Financial Statements. The Audited Financial Statements
have been audited by AP CPA, the independent auditor of the Group in accordance with Chinese

Auditing Standards issued by MOF. See also “Presentation of Financial Information”.

The Audited Financial Statements were prepared and presented in accordance with PRC
GAAP. PRC GAAP differs in certain material respects from IFRS. For a discussion of certain
differences between PRC GAAP and IFRS, see “Summary of Certain Differences between PRC
GAAP and IFRS”.

The Group has adopted the New Accounting Standards starting from 1 January 2021. As a
result of the application of such new accounting standards, certain adjustments were made to the
financial statements. For details of such new accounting standards and their impact on the 2021
Audited Financial Statements, please refer to “Notes to Financial Statements — III. Important
accounting policies and accounting estimates — (32) Important accounting policies and
accounting estimate change” of the 2021 Audited Financial Statements included elsewhere in this
Offering Circular. With the implementation of the New Accounting Standards, relevant items in the
balance sheet as at the beginning of the year, 1 January 2021, were adjusted and restated from the
audited consolidated balance sheet of the Group as at 31 December 2020.

The summary consolidated financial information as set forth below should be read in
conjunction with, and is qualified in its entirety by reference to, the relevant audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group and the notes thereto included elsewhere in this Offering
Circular. The Group’s historical consolidated financial information should not be taken as an
indication of its future financial performance. See “Risk Factors — Risks Relating to Financial
and Other Information — The historical consolidated financial information of the Group is not

indicative of its current and future financial results”.

The Audited Financial Statements are originally prepared in the Chinese language, i.e. the
Chinese Financial Statements, and have been translated into English, i.e. the Financial Statements
Translation, for the purposes of inclusion in this Offering Circular for reference purposes only.
Should there be any inconsistency between the Chinese Financial Statements and the Financial
Statements Translation, the Chinese Financial Statements shall prevail. The Financial Statements
Translation does not itself constitute audited financial statements, and is qualified in its entirety
by, and is subject to, the financial information set out or referred to in, the Chinese Financial
Statements. The Chinese Financial Statements are available at the following website:
www.chinamoney.com.cn. None of the Joint Lead Managers or their respective affiliates, officers,
representatives, directors, employees, agents or advisers have independently verified or checked
the accuracy of the Financial Statements Translation and can give no assurance that the

information contained therein is accurate, truthful or complete.
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Summary Consolidated Statement of Financial Position Data

Current assets:
Cash and cashonhand. ... ..........
Notes receivable

Accounts receivable'"

Advances to suppliers. . .. ...........

Other receivables”

Of which: Interest receivable. .. ... .. ..
Inventory

(1)

Contract assets
Other current assets . . . .............

Total current assets. . . . ............

Non-current assets:

Available for sale financial assets
(1)

(D

Long-term receivables

Long-term equity investment"

Other non-current financial assets. . . . . ..
Investment properties . . .. ...........
Fixed assets. . .. ..................

Construction in progress . .. ..........
)

Intangible assets

Long-term prepaid expenses
M

(n

Deferred tax assets
Other non-current assets

Total non-current assets

TOTAL ASSETS®

Notes

As at As at
As at 31 December 1 January 31 December
2020 2021
(Before (After
2019 restatement) restatement) 2021
(audited) (audited) (audited) (audited)
(RMB’000) (RMB’000) (RMB’000) (RMB’000)

5,909,824.96

5,552,271.00

5,552,271.00

6,346,076.21

906.71 — — 1,221.93
601,619.40 553,489.34 539,968.62 444,042.94
918,155.40 418,901.10 418,901.10 98,661.52

2,398,411.27  2,399,232.77  2,429,037.60  2,372,821.54
— — — 155.56
10,845,649.47 12,039,771.40 12,039,771.40 13,214,099.06
N/A — 647,552.69 647,552.69
329,701.97 493,513.13 493,513.13 582,846.42
21,004,269.18 21,457,178.73  22,121,015.53 23,707,322.31
2,360.00 9,360.00 — —
1,303,766.49  2,825,370.52 — —
337,999.44 361,604.93 342,865.16 365,778.76
N/A — 9,360.00 21,360.00
71,530.72 71,466.57 71,466.57 72,042.50
113,398.95 101,179.30 101,179.30 98,355.31
24,242.78 37,890.53 37,890.53 49,368.02
4,747,745.60  4,353,737.46 26,269.62 25,665.02
14,375.27 14,846.25 14,846.25 23,334.40
112,033.50 139,639.42 168,079.18 190,399.64
14,590,496.42 14,717,876.64 22,142,517.97 23,058,417.40
21,317,949.16  22,632,971.61 22,914,474.59 23,904,721.04
42,322,218.34  44,090,150.35 45,035,490.12  47,612,043.35

(1)  Pursuant to the New Accounting Standards, the Group had made adjustments to certain line items in the 2021
Audited Financial Statements in accordance with the new reporting requirements on financial statements. For
details of such adjustments, see “Notes to Financial Statements — III. Important accounting policies and
accounting estimates — (32) Important accounting policies and accounting estimate change” of the 2021 Audited
Financial Statements which are included elsewhere in the Offering Circular.

(2)  According to the Joint Circular 706, any public interest assets such as public schools, public hospitals, public
cultural facilities, parks, public squares, office buildings of government departments and public institutions,
municipal roads, non-toll bridges, non-operating water conservancy facilities, no-charge pipe network facilities and
other public interest assets and the usage rights of reserve land cannot be counted towards the Group’ assets for the
purposes of issuing medium and long-term foreign debt. As at 31 December 2021, certain assets that the Group
currently holds title to serve public functions. As at 31 December 2021, such assets amounted to approximately
RMB14,590.5 million, representing approximately 30.64 per cent. of the Group’s total assets and 76.79 per cent. of
the Group’s total net assets. See “Risk Factors — Risks relating to Financial and Other Information — Any public
interest assets of the Group should not be taken into account when evaluating the Group’s business, financial
condition, results of operations and prospects are assessed” for further information.
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Current liabilities:

Short-term borrowings
(D

()

Accounts payable
Receipts in advance

Contractual Liabilities” . .. ... ... .. ..

Payroll and employee benefits payable . . .
(¢

(h

Taxes payable
Other payables
Of which: Interest payable

Current portion of non-current
M

liabilities
Total Current Liabilities . . . . ... ... ..

Non-current liabilities:
Long-term borrowings ..............

Bonds payable. . ..................
Deferred income

TOTAL LIABILITIES. . . ...........

Shareholders’ Equity:

Paid-in capital . . . ......... ... ....
Capital reserve. . . .................
Surplus reserve'”

Undistributed profits™ .. ... .........

Equity attributable to owners of the

parent . . ...
M

Non-controlling interests

Total shareholders’ equity . . .........

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY . . ... ..

Note

As at

As at

As at 31 December 1 January 31 December
2020 2021
(Before (After
2019 restatement) restatement) 2021
(audited) (audited) (audited) (audited)
(RMB’000) (RMB’000) (RMB’000) (RMB’000)
10,800.00 130,800.00 130,800.00 200,800.00
1,251,343.21 1,022,019.84 1,774,416.27 1,713,272.85
15,842.81 46,661.29 8,247.30 5,259.37
N/A — 178,267.45 225,219.09
3,756.11 4,535.21 4,535.21 4,539.62
17,847.05 43,321.11 41,749.18 27,397.42
619,089.27 723,429.39 567,531.87 607,672.41
129,046.35 172,798.74 172,798.74 211,338.37
3,414,622.00  3,381,460.30  3,381,460.30  8,458,811.27
5,333,300.45  5,352,227.15  6,087,007.58 11,242,972.03

12,480,259.52

11,644,459.22

11,644,459.22

10,370,145.24

6,058,993.15  8,626,493.61  8,626,493.61  6,573,891.54
1,365.43 2,289.22 2,289.22 4,428.41
291.40 275.36 275.36 22,204.66

— — 317,039.21 397,801.21
18,540,909.50 20,273,517.41 20,590,556.62 17,368,471.06
23,874,209.95 25,625,744.56 26,677,564.20 28,611,443.09
1,000,000.00  1,000,000.00  1,000,000.00  1,000,000.00
15,220,250.52  15,220,250.52  15,220,250.52  15,223,350.52
169,076.56 169,163.61 174,442.64 176,511.66
1,658,279.50  1,663,382.41  1,588,799.08  1,635,596.73

18,047,606.57
400,401.82

18,052,796.53
411,609.26

17,983,492.23
374,433.69

18,035,458.90
965,141.36

18,448,008.39

18,464,405.79

18,357,925.92

19,000,600.26

42,322,218.34

44,090,150.35

45,035,490.12

47,612,043.35

(1)  Pursuant to the New Accounting Standards, the Group had made adjustments to certain line items in the 2021
Audited Financial Statements in accordance with the new reporting requirements on financial statements. For

details of such adjustments, see

“Notes to Financial Statements — III. Important accounting policies and

accounting estimates — (32) Important accounting policies and accounting estimate change” of the 2021 Audited

Financial Statements which are included elsewhere in the Offering Circular.

— 17 -




Summary Consolidated Income Statement Data

Total revenue ..........
Including: Operating revenue
Total cost of sales . ......

Including: Cost of sales . ..

Taxes and surcharges .........

Selling expenses.

General and administrative

expenses. .. ..

Research and development
(R&D) expenses . . .........

Financial expenses . ..........

Including: Interest expenses
Interest income. .

Add: Other income . ... ...
Investment income (los

with “-”). .. ... ...

ses expressed

Of which: Investment income from

associates and joint ventures. . . . ..

Gains from changes in

fair value

(losses expressed with “-”) ... .. ..

Credit impairment losses (losses

expressed with “-7).

Assets impairment losses (losses

expressed with “-7).

Gains from disposal of
expressed with “-7).
Operating profit ........
Add: Non-operating income
Less: Non-operating Expense
Profit/(loss) before tax. . ..
Less: Income tax expense . .
Net profit/(loss) . ........

assets (losses
St

(i) Categorized by ownership

a. Net profit from continuing

operations. . ... ..

b. Net profit from discontinuing

operations. . .. ...

For the year ended 31 December

2019 2020 2021

(audited) (audited) (audited)

(RMB’000) (RMB’000) (RMB’000)
1,226,745.51 1,148,238.32 1,184,345.28
1,226,745.51 1,148,238.32 1,184,345.28
1,222,806.08 1,158,977.41 1,122,865.43
726,835.18 733,863.69 992,698.70
9,594.69 19,762.39 40,025.64
79,330.83 51,162.90 54,020.46
100,036.82 89,336.69 98,989.07
— — 250.00
307,008.55 264,851.74 -63,118.44
322,557.97 286,321.01 451,754.46
22,251.26 34,002.72 531,481.71
478.38 7,059.26 1,164.47
36,720.90 24,176.64 23,870.94
34,964.32 23,105.49 22,913.60
-2,134.66 -64.15 575.93
— — -8,346.51
-4,893.24 965.18 —
0.38 16.48 12.16
34,111.18 21,414.32 78,756.82
4,399.11 5,978.98 3,112.71
44421 3,125.36 854.36
38,066.08 24,267.94 81,015.18
-3,996.63 3,333.14 31,103.34
42,062.71 20,934.80 49,911.84
42,062.71 20,934.80 49,911.84
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(i1) Categorized by ownership
a. Net profit attributable to owners of
the parent...................
b. Net profit attributable to
non-controlling interests . . ... ...
Total comprehensive income . .. ........
Total comprehensive income attributable to
owners of the parent . ...............
Total comprehensive income attributable to

non-controlling interests .............

For the year ended 31 December

Summary Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows Data

Net cash flows from operating activities . . .
Net cash flows from investing activities . . .
Net cash flows from financing activities . . .
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents. .

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year ..

2019 2020 2021
(audited) (audited) (audited)
(RMB’000) (RMB’000) (RMB’000)
33,764.74 9,727.36 52,442.47
8,297.97 11,207.44 -2,530.63
42,062.71 20,934.80 49,911.84
33,764.74 9,727.36 52,442.47
8,297.97 11,207.44 -2,530.63
For the year ended 31 December
2019 2020 2021
(audited) (audited) (audited)
(RMB’000) (RMB’000) (RMB’000)
-1,096,292.56 41,659.02 -386,699.49
-2,093,363.25 -1,150,340.15 -150,840.58
5,042,046.75 707,858.97 1,331,345.28
1,852,390.94 -400,822.16 793,805.21
5,897,093.16 5,496,271.00 6,290,076.21
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Othe

r Financial Data

As at 31 December/For the year ended 31 December

2019 2020 2021
(unaudited) (unaudited) (unaudited)
EBITDA (in RMB millions) ............ 782.0 672.2 16.2
EBITDA margin (per cent.)............. 63.7 58.5 1.4
Notes:
(1)  EBITDA equals sum of gross profit, depreciation of fixed asset, amortisation of intangible assets and amortisation

2

of long-term deferred expenses, minus taxes and surcharges in total operating costs, selling expenses and
administration expenses. EBITDA is not a standard measure under PRC GAAP or IFRS. EBITDA is a widely used
financial indicator of a company’s ability to service and incur debt. EBITDA should not be considered in isolation
or construed as an alternative to cash flows, net income or any other measure of performance or as an indicator of
the Issuer’s operating performance, liquidity, profitability or cash flows generated by operating, investing or
financing activities. In evaluating EBITDA, investors should consider, among other things, the components of
EBITDA such as operating expenses and the amount by which EBITDA exceeds capital expenditures and other
charges. The Issuer has included EBITDA because the Issuer believes that it is a useful supplement to cash flow
data as a measure of the Issuer’s performance and its ability to generate cash flow from operations to cover debt
service and taxes. EBITDA presented herein may not be comparable to similarly titled measures presented by other
companies. Investors should not compare the Issuer’s EBITDA to EBITDA presented by other companies because

not all companies use the same definition.

EBITDA margin equals EBITDA dived by total revenue.
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RISK FACTORS

An investment in the Notes is subject to a number of risks. Prior to making any investment
decision, investors should carefully consider all of the information contained in this Offering
Circular, and in particular, the risks and uncertainties described below. The following describes
some of the significant risks relating to the Group, its business, the market in which the Group
operates and the Notes. Some risks may be unknown to the Issuer and other risks, currently
believed to be immaterial, could in fact be material. Any of these could materially and adversely
affect the business, financial condition, results of operations or prospects of the Group or the
value of the Notes. The Issuer believes that the risk factors described below represent the principal
risks inherent in investing in the Notes, but the ability of the Issuer to pay interest, principal or
other amounts on or in connection with any Notes may be affected by some factors that may not be
considered as significant risks by the Issuer based on information currently available to it or
which it is currently unable to anticipate. All of these factors are contingencies which may or may
not occur and the Issuer is not in a position to express a view on the likelihood of any such
contingency occurring. This Offering Circular also contains forward-looking statements that
involve risks and uncertainties. The actual results of the Group could differ materially from those
anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of certain factors, including the risks

described below and elsewhere in this Offering Circular.

The Issuer does not represent that the statements below regarding the risk factors are
exhaustive. Prospective investors should also read the detailed information set out elsewhere in

this Offering Circular and reach their own views prior to making any investment decision.

RISKS RELATING TO THE GROUP’S BUSINESS

The Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects are heavily

dependent on the level of economic development in the PRC, particularly Zhengzhou.

The Group is a state-owned enterprise indirectly owned by Zhengzhou SASAC and it is a
major public infrastructure construction, investment and management company in Zhengzhou.
Substantially all of the Group’s business operations and investments are conducted in Zhengzhou
and substantially all of its assets are located in Zhengzhou. Therefore, the Group’s business,
financial condition, results of operations and prospects have been and will continue to be heavily

dependent on the level of economic development in Zhengzhou.

The economy of the PRC experienced rapid growth in the past 30 years. There has been a
slowdown in the growth of the PRC’s gross domestic product (“GDP”) since the second half of
2013 and this has raised market concerns that the historic rapid growth of the economy of the PRC
may not be sustainable. According to the National Statistics Bureau of the PRC, the annual growth
rate of China’s GDP in 2019 decreased slightly to 6.0 per cent. on a year-on-year basis compared
to 6.6 per cent. in 2018, and it further decreased to 2.2 per cent. in 2020 on a year-on-year basis.

Although the PRC recorded a GDP annual growth rate of 8.1 per cent. in 2021, there can be no
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assurance that a similar level of growth rate can be sustained. Any future slowdown may create a
credit tightening environment, increase the Group’s financing costs, negatively affect the
government’s fiscal income and investment in fixed assets or reduce governmental subsidies to the
Group. The national economic condition of the PRC has a material effect on regional economic
performance in the PRC. According to the Statistics Bureau of Zhengzhou, the annual growth rate
of Zhengzhou’s GDP decreased from 13.2 per cent. in 2011 to 4.7 per cent. in 2021 even though
Zhengzhou’s GDP increased during this period. These changes were generally in line with the

changes in the PRC’s GDP growth rate during the same period.

The economic condition and future development of China and Zhengzhou may be affected by
many factors beyond the Group’s control. The future prospects of the economy of the PRC, Henan
Province and Zhengzhou depend on many different factors, most of which are beyond the Group’s
control. China’s economy experienced a significant slowdown since the outbreak of COVID-19 in
late 2019 and China recorded a GDP contraction of 6.8 per cent. year-on-year in the first quarter
of 2020. Given that China was generally able to contain the spread of COVID-19 in 2021, China’s
economy increased by 18.3 per cent. year-on-year in the first quarter of 2021. In 2022, the PRC
government imposed a number of measures in an effort to contain another wave of COVID-19 in
major cities like Shanghai, including mandatory business closures, travel restrictions, quarantines,
lockdowns, limitations on public gatherings and the suspension of major events. These
containment measures have in some cases caused disruptions across various cities in China and
may have an adverse effect on the Chinese economy. There can be no assurance that there will not
be negative factors such as a resurgence of COVID-19 that would result in a significant slowdown
of the economy of the PRC and Zhengzhou in the future. It is uncertain how the economic
condition and future development in Zhengzhou will be affected by the fluctuation in the growth
of the PRC’s economy. There can be no assurance that the level of economic development in China
or Zhengzhou will continue at its historical growth rate or at all. Any slowdown in the economic
development in Zhengzhou may affect its city development plan. This may have an adverse effect

on the Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

Most of the Group’s businesses are concentrated in a single geographical region.

Substantially all of the Group’s current and anticipated businesses are concentrated in
Zhengzhou. Any material region-wide adverse events may negatively impact the demand for
projects conducted or services provided by the Group in Zhengzhou, which would in turn affect
the revenue and profitability of the Group. Such material and adverse events include, but are not
limited to, changes in economic conditions and the regulatory environment, changes in the national
or regional governments’ development plans and policies, decrease in investor confidence within
the region, significant natural disasters, and man-made incidents. Due to the limited geographical
coverage of its operations, the Group may not be able to effectively manage any potential losses
arising from these material and adverse events, which may materially and adversely affect the

Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.
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The Group faces risks related to force majeure events, natural disasters, outbreaks, or
threatened outbreak, of any severe contagious disease, such as the outbreak of COVID-19,

which could significantly disrupt its business operations.

The Group’s businesses could be adversely affected by the effects of force majeure events,
natural disasters, catastrophes, epidemics, pandemics and other outbreaks, such as COVID-19,
avian influenza, severe acute respiratory syndrome (SARS), influenza A (HIN1), Ebola and other
acts of God which are beyond its control. Force majeure events, natural disasters, catastrophes or
other events could result in severe personal injury to the Group’s staff, property damage and
environmental damage, which may curtail the Group’s operations, cause delays in estimated
completion dates for projects and materially and adversely affect its cash flows and, accordingly,
adversely affect its ability to service debt. Outbreaks of contagious diseases and other adverse
public health developments in China or any other markets in which the Group operates and
conducts business could severely disrupt its business operations by damaging the demand for the
products and services provided by it or impacting the productivity of its workforce, which could
negatively affect its financial condition, operating results and future prospects. Any occurrences of
force majeure events, natural disasters, catastrophes or other events could adversely affect the
Group’s business operations, cause delays in the Group’s projects, increase the costs associated
with its operations and could in turn, materially and adversely affect its revenue, profit and cash

flows and, accordingly, negatively impact its ability to repay any debt.

In early 2020, COVID-19, a highly infectious virus, spread throughout the globe, resulting in
numerous deaths in the world. The World Health Organization announced in March 2020 that
COVID-19 had developed into a pandemic. In an effort to contain the spread of COVID-19, the
PRC government took a number of measures to contain the spread of COVID-19, including, among
other steps, extending the Chinese New Year holidays, and imposing travel, quarantine and other
work-related restrictions. These containment measures caused disruptions to the Group’s business
and results of operations for the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2021. For example, the
construction of various projects of the Group was affected and delayed as a result of the measures
to contain COVID-19 pandemic taken by the PRC government. A prolonged outbreak of
COVID-19 has had and may continue to have a material adverse impact on China’s economy, the
global economy and financial markets in general, which in turn could materially and adversely

affect the Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

Furthermore, several major cities in China including Shanghai have recently experienced an
outbreak of COVID-19, leading to extended lockdowns in these cities. Continued lockdowns may
have a significant impact on the economy of the PRC and the Group’s performance. In addition,
there can be no assurance that there will not be negative factors such as a resurgence of
COVID-19 that would result in a significant slowdown of the economy of the PRC and Zhengzhou
in the future. The Group is not able at this time to ascertain the full impact of COVID-19 related
measures on its financial or operating results. In addition, some of the Group’s contracts may have
force majeure provisions that permit such parties to suspend, terminate or otherwise not perform

their obligations under the relevant contracts upon the occurrence of certain events, such as strikes
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and other industrial or labour disturbances, terrorism, restraints of government, civil protests or
disturbances, international conflicts and tensions, military and other actions, heightened security
measures in response to these threats, or any natural disasters, all of which are beyond the control
of the party asserting such force majeure event. If one or more of the Group’s counterparties do
not fulfil their contractual obligations for any extended period of time due to a force majeure event
or otherwise, the Group’s results of operations and financial condition could be materially and

adversely affected.

PRC regulations on the administration of the financing platforms and debts of local

governments may have a material impact on the Group’s business and sources of financing.

Various PRC government entities maintain and enforce regulations related to local
government financing vehicles (“LGFV”). These government entities, including the Ministry of
Finance (the “MOF”), may from time to time interpret relevant laws and regulations differently
based on their own interpretation of the specific activities engaged in by enterprises such as the
Issuer. The Issuer therefore cannot be certain that certain regulations intended to apply to LGFVs

do not or will not apply to it or that such regulations will not be retroactively applied to it.

In September 2014, the State Council of the PRC released the Opinion on Enhancing the
Administration of Fiscal Debts of Local Governments (B 5 H 7 BUR PEAE B S BLA & )
(“Circular 43”) with an aim to control a significant increase in local government debts and
associated risks in the PRC’s banking system. Circular 43 generally prohibits local governments to
incur “off-balance” indebtedness to finance the development of government projects and other
public interest projects with the proceeds of the borrowings incurred by financing platforms that
the relevant local governments own or control. In April 2017, the MOF, together with the NDRC,
the PBOC, the China Securities Regulatory Commission, the China Banking Regulatory
Commission and the Ministry of Justice of the PRC, released the Notice Concerning Further
Regulation of Local Government Borrowing and Financing Conduct (P — A5 K i b Jy BURT 82
&Rl & 1T 2% W% A1) to emphasise the principles and policies set out in Circular 43. In the event the
Issuer is deemed a financing platform of the relevant local government, the Group’s results of
operations and financial condition may be heavily affected by such changes in applicable
regulations, including Circular 43. Consequently, the Group should rely exclusively upon the cash
flow generated from its operations and external borrowings to satisfy its cash needs for servicing

its outstanding indebtedness and financing its operating activities.

In addition, the PRC government issued Regulation on the Financing Activities Conducted by
Financial Institutions for Local Governments and State-owned Enterprises (4B B i B i 4 fi 4
SE U7 B AN A A SEBERVE AT 2 A B R R A, B 42(2018]235%) (the “MOF  Circular”),
effective 28 March 2018, which aims to increase the responsibility of the PRC state-owned
financial institutions to assess the financial independence and liquidity level of LGFVs that they
assist in fundraising. On 11 May 2018, the Circular of the National Development and Reform
Commission and the Ministry of Finance on Improvement of Market Regulatory Regime and Strict
Prevention of Foreign Debt Risks and Local Government Indebtedness Risks ([H%¢%% J& ol 25 B
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TS BRI 56 5 T 35 40 SRR ] B s 1977 S8 A/ B A by (585 )R B O 48 R0)  (the “Joint  Circular”)
was released. The Joint Circular reiterates the PRC government’s position to isolate the debt of
LGFVs from that of the relevant local government and to control the increase in local
governments’ debt. The Joint Circular requires companies that plan to borrow medium and
long-term foreign debt to establish a sound and standardised corporate governance structure,
management’s decision-making mechanism and financial management system. It further requires
assets owned by such companies be of good quality with clear ownership and public interest assets
are prohibited from being included in corporate assets. See “— Risks relating to the Notes — Any
public interest assets of the Group should not be taken into account when evaluating the Group’s

business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects are assessed”.

On 6 June 2019, the NDRC further issued the Circular of the General Office of the National
Development and Reform Commission on Relevant Requirements for the Record-filing and
Registration of Foreign Debts Issued by Local State-owned Enterprises (Fa Gai Ban Wai Zi [2019]
No. 666) (B 17 %5 31 75 1B A 4> 3E 8847 SME R R i 58 5 AT B ZOR IV IE A, 3500051 5 (20191666 5%)
(the “Circular 666”). Circular 666 reiterates that a local state-owned enterprise shall fulfil
responsibilities for repayment for foreign debts in its capacity as an independent legal person. A
local government or its departments shall not directly repay or undertake to repay foreign debts of
a local state-owned enterprise with financial capital, or provide guarantee for the issuance of
foreign debts by a local state-owned enterprise. The PRC government may continue to release new
policies or amend existing regulations to control the increase in local government debts in China,
and there can be no assurance that the Group’s financing model and business model will not be

materially affected as a result.

Zhengzhou SASAC exerts significant influence on the Group’s business, and measures that

benefit Zhengzhou may not always be beneficial to the Group.

As at the date of this Offering Circular, the Issuer is directly wholly-owned by Zhengzhou
Real Estate Group Co., Ltd. (¥ bz SEH A FR /A A]) (“Zhengzhou Real Estate Group™), which
in turn is directly wholly-owned by Zhengzhou SASAC. Zhengzhou SASAC is responsible for the
administration of many state-owned enterprises in Zhengzhou, including the Issuer. Zhengzhou
SASAC has a significant influence on the Group as it does with respect to many other local
state-owned enterprises under its control, including the scope of its business, major investment
decisions, development strategies, appointment of directors and certain senior management
positions. When Zhengzhou SASAC carries out its administrative function and implements the
PRC government’s policies, there can be no assurance that Zhengzhou SASAC would always take
actions that are in the Group’s best commercial interests or that aim to maximise the Group’s
profit. Those actions may be beneficial to Zhengzhou as a whole, but could have an adverse
impact on the Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. In recent
years, the local counterparts of SASAC in many provinces and cities have directed reorganisations

of local state-owned enterprises, which are conducted in the forms of asset transfer, asset
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disposition and/or asset swap. It is difficult to foresee or control the occurrence of similar
transactions directed by the governmental authorities and there can be no assurance that the Group

will not be adversely affected if any such reorganisation were to take place.

The ownership and control of the Group by the PRC government does not provide assurance

on the Group’s financial condition.

Although the Group is a state-owned enterprise indirectly owned by Zhengzhou SASAC, the
ownership and control of the Group by the PRC government (including the Zhengzhou Municipal
Government, Zhengzhou SASAC and other state-owned entities) does not necessarily correlate to,
or provide any assurance as to, the financial condition of the Issuer or the Group. Therefore, a
potential investor should not invest in the Notes based on its understanding of the financial
condition of the owners of the Issuer or the Group. Nor should a potential investor invest in the
Notes unless it has the expertise (either alone or with the help of a financial adviser) to evaluate

the risks pertaining to the Issuer and the Group before making an investment decision.

The Group faces risks associated with contracting with the Zhengzhou Municipal

Government and its controlled entities.

The Group’s revenue mainly comes from contracts with government bodies, agencies and
entities, in particular the Zhengzhou Municipal Government and its agencies. However, the
Zhengzhou Municipal Government and other local government agencies and entities may (i) have
economic or business interests or considerations that are inconsistent with the Group’s best
interests; (ii) take actions which are contrary to the Group’s requests, policies or objectives; (iii)
be unable or unwilling to fulfil their obligations; (iv) encounter financial difficulties; or (v) have
disputes with the Group as to contractual terms or other matters. Such counterparties may not
perform their contractual obligations in a timely manner, if at all, or may, without prior notice,
change existing policies and project plans for various reasons such as changes in government
budgets. The occurrence of any such event may require the Group to adjust its business operations
and development plans, which could adversely affect its operating results. If there is any material
disagreement between the Group and such government agencies or entities, the Group may not be
able to successfully resolve the disagreement in a timely manner, if at all. Disputes with public
bodies may last for a considerably longer period than those with private sector counterparties, and
payments due to the Group may be delayed as a result. Although the Group believes that it
currently maintains productive working relationships with its government agency and entity
counterparties, there can be no assurance that such relationships will not deteriorate or discontinue
in the future. If any of the above factors were to materialise, they may materially and adversely

affect the Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.
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The Group’s business operations require substantial cash outlays and any failure of the
Group to obtain sufficient capital resources on acceptable terms or in a timely manner may

adversely affect its business and prospects.

The Group’s business operations require substantial cash outlays. For the years ended 31
December 2019, 2020 and 2021, the Group expended a total of RMB2,094.1 million, RMB1,143.8
million and RMB46.8 million, respectively for payments of fixed assets, intangible assets and
other long-term assets. The Group historically satisfied its cash requirements with (i) the cash flow
generated from its operations and investment, (ii) government grants and subsidies, (iii) the
proceeds of bank and other borrowings and (iv) the proceeds from the issuance of bonds and
commercial paper in the PRC capital markets. The Group believes that it will continue to require

substantial capital resources to support its business operations and expansion.

The ability of the Group to generate sufficient operating cash flow is affected by a number of
factors, such as the Group’s ability to carry on its business activities in an efficient manner, due
performance of the Group’s contractors, changes in the general market conditions and regulatory
environment and competition in certain sectors in which the Group operates. Any adverse change
in any of these factors, which may be out of the Group’s control, may create a capital shortfall.
There can be no assurance that the Group’s operating activities are able to generate sufficient cash
to satisfy its cash needs at all times. While the Group generated positive net cash flow from
operating activities in the amount of RMB41.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2020, the
Group had net cash outflow from operating activities in the amount of RMB1,096.3 million and
RMB386.7 million for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2021, respectively.

If the Group is not able to secure sufficient capital with its cash reserves, it has to increase
its reliance on external financing. As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s total indebtedness
(comprising short-term borrowings, current portion of non-current liabilities, long-term borrowings
and bonds payable) was RMB25,603.65 million. As at 31 December 2021, the Group had credit
facilities in a total amount of RMB25,240 million, of which RMB13,751 million had not been
used. The Group’s ability to arrange for external financing and the cost of such financing are
dependent on numerous factors, some of which are beyond the Group’s control, including:

. general economic and capital market conditions;

. changes in monetary policies with respect to bank interest rates and lending policy;

. interest rates and credit availability from banks or other lenders;

. investor confidence in the Group, and success of the Group’s business;

. the Group’s ability to obtain the PRC government approvals required to access domestic

or international financing;
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. provisions of tax and securities laws that may be applicable to the Group’s efforts to

raise capital; and

. political and economic conditions in the rest of the PRC generally.

There can be no assurance that additional financing, either on a short-term or a long-term
basis, will be available, or that such financing will be obtained on terms favourable to the Group.
If the Group is unable to obtain financing on a timely basis and at a reasonable cost, it may not be
able to undertake new projects or implement them as planned. This would restrict the Group’s
ability to grow and, over time, may reduce the quality and reliability of the service the Group
provides, and adversely affect the Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations and
prospects. Substantial indebtedness will in turn increase the pressure on the Group’s liquidity and

13

cause additional operational risks. See “— Substantial indebtedness may restrict the Group’s

business activities and may increase the Group’s exposure to various operational risks” below.

Substantial indebtedness may restrict the Group’s business activities and may increase the

Group’s exposure to various operational risks.

The Group relies on external financing to satisfy a portion of its capital requirements and it
has had a significant amount of outstanding indebtedness. As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s
total indebtedness (comprising short-term borrowings, current portion of non-current liabilities,
long-term borrowings and bonds payable) was RMB25,603.65 million of which RMB&8,659.61
million would become due within 12 months. In addition, the Group from time to time guarantees
the indebtedness of its related parties. As at 31 December 2021, the balance of the guarantee
provided to related parties amounted to RMB1,800 million. See note 7 to the Audited Financial

Statements.

Substantial indebtedness could impact the Group’s business in a number of ways, including:

. requiring the Group to divert its operating cash flow to service its indebtedness;
. increasing the Group’s finance costs, thus affecting the overall profits of the Group;
. decreasing the Group’s financial flexibility in carrying on its business or responding to

unexpected market changes;

. limiting, together with the financial and other restrictive covenants of the Group’s

indebtedness, among other things, the Group’s ability to borrow additional funds; and

. increasing the Group’s vulnerability to adverse general economic and industry

conditions.
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As the Group’s business scale continues to grow, its capital requirement and its reliance on
external financing may continue to increase. The Group’s financial performance and operating
results may be materially and adversely affected if its cash flows and capital resources are
insufficient to fund its debt service obligations. Failure to service the Group’s debt could result in
the imposition of penalties, including increases in rates of interest that the Group pays on its legal

actions against the Group by its creditors, or bankruptcy.

Restrictive covenants contained in the bank loans and credit facilities of the Group may limit
the Group’s ability to incur additional indebtedness and restrict its future operations, and
failure to comply with these restrictive covenants may adversely affect its liquidity, financial

condition and results of operations.

Certain financing contracts entered into by the Group’s members contain operational and
financial restrictions that prohibit the borrowers from incurring additional indebtedness unless they
are able to satisfy certain financial ratios, restrict the borrowers from creating security or granting
guarantees or prohibit the borrowers from changing their business and corporate structure and
declaring or paying dividends, without the lenders’ prior consent. Such restrictions may negatively
affect the relevant companies’ ability to respond to changes in market conditions, pursue the
business opportunities the Group believes to be desirable, obtain future financing, fund capital
expenditures, or withstand a continuing or future downturn in the Group’s business. Any of these
factors could materially and adversely affect the Group’s ability to satisfy its obligations under

outstanding financial obligations, such as the Notes after issuance.

If the relevant Group companies fail to comply with the undertakings and covenants in their
current or future debt obligations and other financing agreements, a default under the terms of
such agreements may occur. In the event of a default under such agreements, the creditors may be
entitled to terminate their commitments granted to the Issuer or its subsidiaries, accelerate the debt
and declare all amounts borrowed due and payable or terminate the agreements, depending on the
provisions of the relevant agreements. Some financing agreements of the Group contain cross
acceleration or cross-default provisions, which give creditors under these financing agreements to
require the Group to immediately repay their loans or declare a default of borrower as a result of
the acceleration or default of other financing agreements by any other member of the Group. If any
of these events occur, there can be no assurance that the Group will be able to obtain the waiver
from the relevant lenders in a timely manner or that the assets and cash flow of the Issuer or its
subsidiaries would be sufficient to repay in full all of their respective debts as they become due, or
that the Issuer or its subsidiaries would be able to find alternative financing. Even if the Issuer and
its subsidiaries could obtain alternative financing, there can be no assurance that it would be on

terms that are favourable or acceptable to the Issuer or, as the case may be, its subsidiaries.

The Group mortgages or pledges some of its assets to secure its bank borrowings. Third-party
security rights may limit the Group’s use of the assets mortgaged or charges and adversely affect
its operating efficiency. If the Issuer and its subsidiaries are unable to service and repay their debts

under such loan facilities on a timely basis, the assets mortgaged or charged and the subsidiary
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equity interests pledged to secure the Group’s bank loans may be foreclosed or sold by the relevant
lenders, which may adversely affect the Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations

and prospects.
The Group is exposed to risks relating to its inventories.

As at 31 December 2019, 2020 and 2021, the balance of the Group’s inventories was
RMB10,845.65 million, RMB12,039.77 million and RMBI13,214.1 million, respectively,
representing 25.6 per cent., 27.3 per cent. and 27.8 per cent. of the Group’s total assets as at the
respective dates. The Group’s inventories mainly represent the development costs of the projects
under construction. The Group maintains a high level of inventories because the Group’s
construction projects require a relatively long period of planning, construction and project
settlement. A high level of inventories increases the pressure on the Group’s cash flows. These
projects under construction are inherently illiquid and may not be able to be sold for cash in an
efficient manner. This may limit the Group’s ability to respond to changing economic, financial
and investment conditions. The Group has made and will continue to make reasonable effort to
maintain an adequate level of inventories. However, there can be no assurance that disruption will

not occur.

A significant amount of other receivables may affect the Group’s liquidity and restrict the

Group’s business activities.

As at 31 December 2019, 2020 and 2021, the Group’s other receivables amounted to
RMB2,398.4 million, RMB2,399.2 million and RMB2,372.8 million, respectively, representing 5.7
per cent., 5.4 per cent. and 5.0 per cent. of the Group’s total assets as at the corresponding dates.
The Group’s other receivables primarily comprise payments due from the Zhengzhou Municipal
Government and its controlled entities and the Group’s related companies. There are inherent risks
associated with the ability of the Zhengzhou Municipal Government and its controlled entities to
make timely payments and any failure to make timely payments by these entities could materially
and adversely affect the Group’s liquidity and in turn affect its business, financial condition or
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results of operations. See “— The Group faces risks associated with contracting with the

Zhengzhou Municipal Government and its controlled entities”.

The Group’s business is subject to compliance risks and any failure of the Group to comply
with applicable laws, rules and regulations, including obtaining or maintaining necessary
qualifications, permits and approvals for its operations may adversely affect its business,

financial condition and results of operations.

The Group’s business is subject to various laws, rules and regulations in the PRC affecting
how the Group operates its business. There are stringent laws and regulations affecting the Group’s
infrastructure construction business such as the Construction Law of the People’s Republic of
China (F#E A RILFIE] @ 587%) and the Bidding and Tendering Law of the People’s Republic of
China ("% A R ILFNEHE 412 1%). Moreover, the Group must comply with rules deriving from
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the terms of agreement and performance of contracts with governmental entities and orders and
laws governing construction activities and the applicable technical rules governing the delivery of
services, supplies and works. According to applicable PRC laws and regulations, the Group needs
to obtain a number of approvals, certificates, licenses and permits from different governmental
authorities and to comply with extensive procedural requirements before it is qualified to carry on
the relevant regulated business activities. For example, the Group is required to obtain a project
approval, an environmental assessment approval, a construction land planning permit (&% ] HikR
FFF ), a construction project planning permit (B¢ LR FIFF ] #5), a construction permit
(S T 5 T #Frl #) and a qualification certificate for its construction operations.

There are inherent risks associated with the implementation, enforcement and interpretation
of PRC laws. Governmental authorities also have great discretion in determining the granting of
the relevant approvals, licences, permits and certificates. These factors have caused and are
expected to continue to result in inconsistent application, enforcement or interpretation of law in
China. There are significant uncertainties associated with the procedural requirements under
applicable PRC laws and regulations for the Group’s existing business and the new business which
the Group intends to operate in the future. There can be no assurance that the Group will be able

to obtain the approvals, licences, permits and certificates necessary in a timely manner, or at all.

PRC governmental authorities from time to time amend existing laws and regulations and
release new policies or regulatory requirements which may affect the Group’s business operations.
The Group may be unable to comply with new laws, regulations or policies or fail to respond to
any changes in the regulatory environment in a timely manner. In addition, to ensure the
restrictions and conditions of relevant business permits, licenses and certificates are fulfilled,
governmental authorities normally conduct regular or special inspections, investigations and
inquiries. Certain members of the Group had in the past been found to be in breach of
administrative regulations and were ordered to pay administrative fines as a result. If there is any
material non-compliance of the Group or its business, the Group’s permits, licenses and certificates
may be suspended or revoked, and it may be required to pay fines or be subject to other penalties,
which could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial condition, results of

operations and prospects.

The Group may not be able to complete its infrastructure construction projects on time,

within budget, or at all.

The Group’s infrastructure construction projects require substantial capital investments prior
to and during the construction period. One or more years may elapse before a project generates
positive cash flows and incomes. The progress and costs for a project may be materially and

adversely affected by many factors, including:

. delays in obtaining necessary licences, permits or approvals from government agencies

and authorities;
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. changes in market conditions;

. unforeseen engineering, design, environmental, structural or geographic problems;

. shortages or increased costs of materials, equipment, contractors and skilled labour;
. labour disputes;

. adverse influence caused by other construction projects not undertaken by the Group;
. construction accidents;

. natural catastrophes;

. adverse weather conditions;

. discovery of historic and cultural relics in the construction site; and

. changes in government policies or in applicable laws or regulations.

Any of these factors may lead to construction delays or increased costs, may require changes
to planned specifications or may ultimately end up with delays of the project. For example, as a
result of the disruptions in the construction progress caused by the super rainstorm disaster in
Henan Province in 2021 and the COVID-19 pandemic (both of which are beyond the Group’s
control), the construction period of the Jialu River Comprehensive Management Ecological
Greening Engineering PPP Project (B &I 45 G 1RHE 4L TFEPPPIHH) is expected to be
extended to June 2023. If a project is not completed on time, other parties in the contract may be
entitled to damages for late delivery or, under certain circumstances, may terminate the purchase
contract and claim damages. Any such consequences may have a material adverse impact on the

Group’s reputation, business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.
The Group’s profit margin is sensitive to fluctuations in the cost of construction materials.

Contracting fees paid to third-party contractors are one of the main components of the
Group’s costs of sales. Contracting fees encompass all costs for the design and construction of a
project, costs of construction materials, foundation and substructure, fittings, facilities for utilities
and related infrastructure such as roads and pipelines. Contracting fees may fluctuate as a result of
the volatile price movement of construction materials such as steel and cement. The Group seeks
to reduce its exposure to short-term price fluctuations of construction materials and limit project
cost overruns by centralising its procurement. The Group also manages the cost of outsourced
construction work through a process of tenders which, among other things, contemplates the
procurement of principal construction materials such as steel and cement at fixed prices. In line

with industry practice, if there are significant price fluctuations (depending on the specific terms
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of each contract), the Group will be required to renegotiate, top up or refund, the amounts paid
under existing construction contracts. Additionally, should the Group’s existing contractors fail to
perform under their contracts, the Group might be required to pay more to contractors under
replacement contracts. The Group’s profit margin is sensitive to changes in market prices for
construction materials and its profit margins will be materially and adversely affected if the Group
is not able to pass all of the increased costs onto its customers. Any significant increase in the
price of the materials used in the Group’s projects would have an adverse impact on the Group’s

business, financial condition and results of operations.

Any underperformance by the Group’s third-party contractors may adversely affect the

Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

The Group engages third-party contractors to provide various services relating to its
infrastructure construction projects. The Group generally selects third-party contractors through its
standardised open tender process. The Group endeavours to employ those companies with good
reputations, strong track records, performance reliability and adequate financial resources. The
Group also implements quality control procedures and closely monitors the construction progress.
However, there can be no assurance that its third-party contractors will always provide satisfactory
services of the quality required by the Group. If the performance of any third-party contractor fails
to meet the requirements of the Group, the Group may need to replace such contractor or take
other remedial actions, which could adversely affect the cost and development schedule of its
projects. In addition, labour shortages, labour disputes or increases in labour costs of the Group’s
third-party contractors could cause a delay or an extension in the construction progress and an

increase in the Group’s fees payable to the contractors.

The Group may occasionally be asked to undertake one or more government projects on short
notice. There can be no assurance that the Group is able to engage third-party contractors that
meet its quality and timeliness requirements in such situations. Moreover, the Group’s contractors
may undertake projects from other enterprises operating similar business, engage in risky
undertakings or otherwise encounter financial or other difficulties, which may adversely affect
their ability to complete the Group’s projects on time, within budget or at all. All of these
third-party related factors may have a material adverse impact on the quality of services provided
by the Group’s contractors and the quality and construction progress of the Group’s infrastructure
projects. Unsatisfactory quality or delay in the construction timetable may in turn adversely affect

the results of operations and prospects of the Group.

Some of the Group’s businesses serve public interest functions and may not be profitable.

Some of the Group’s infrastructure construction projects are for general public interest and
the Group may fail to recover all of its costs for such projects. Although the Group may receive
financial and other support from the Zhengzhou Municipal Government intended to cover certain
of these costs, such financial support may not always be available due to the government’s

liquidity, budgeting priority and other considerations. Further, the Zhengzhou Municipal
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Government may change the plans for such projects which may cause an increase in the
investment after the construction begins. Despite the above, the Group may continue to participate
in businesses and projects for general public interests from time to time. However, as the Group
has limited resources, engagement in these business and projects may reduce its ability to
participate in other profit-generating projects. The Group’s business, financial condition, results of

operations and prospects may be adversely affected as a result.

The Group is exposed to risks associated with shantytown resettlement.

The Group engages in shantytown resettlement and is exposed to risks associated with such
operations. For instance, there may be potential disputes involving local residents as to the level of
compensation payable in connection with any relocation. Other local residents may resist
resettlement, thereby requiring the Group to cooperate with the local governments and expend time
and energy to consummate the resettlement. Any risk associated with shantytown resettlement may
result in increases in the Group’s operating costs, which may materially and adversely affect the

Group’s financial condition and results of operations.

The Group may not be able to successfully implement its growth strategy.

The Issuer is a state-owned enterprise of Zhengzhou SASAC that focuses on investment,
construction and management of public infrastructure and provision of ancillary services. While
the Group’s operations have historically concentrated on public infrastructure construction, over
the years, it has diversified its business into hotel operations, trading, management consultancy,
technology service, precast construction and other businesses. Whether or not the Group will be
successful in implementing its strategy depends on a number of factors, such as changes in the
competition landscapes in the relevant industries, the Group’s ability to identify suitable business
opportunities and to maintain relationships with its customers and suppliers, the Group’s ability to
secure sufficient capital resources at acceptable costs, its ability to recruit and retain competent
talents and adapt to changes in the regulatory environment in the relevant industries. The Group
may not be able to effectively and efficiently carry out its growth strategy if any of the foregoing
factors does not develop in a direction favourable to the Group. Accordingly, the Group’s business,
financial condition, results of operations and prospects may be adversely affected as a result of its

failure to implement its growth strategy.

Stricter environmental and safety protection in the PRC may increase the Group’s operating

costs.

The Group is required to comply with extensive and increasingly stringent environmental
protection and safety laws and regulations relating to its business, particularly its infrastructure
construction related operations. Before the Group is allowed to conduct these business activities or

construct the operating facilities, it is required to pass stringent environmental protection and
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safety examinations by the relevant governmental authorities and to obtain necessary
environmental and safety permits and approvals, which shall be renewed by the Group according

to relevant requirements.

Among other things, these laws and regulations:

. impose fees for the discharge of waste substances exceeding the discharge standards

promulgated by relevant government authorities;

. require the establishment of reserves for reclamation and rehabilitation;

. impose fines for serious environmental offenses; and

. allow the PRC government, at its discretion, to close any facilities failing to comply

with orders to correct or stop operations that have caused environmental damage.

The PRC government is currently moving toward more rigorous enforcement of applicable
laws and regulations, as well as the adoption and enforcement of more stringent environmental
standards. As a result, the Group’s budget for environmental regulatory compliance may be
insufficient and the Group may need to allocate additional funds. Moreover, there can be no
assurance that the Group will comply with all environmental and safety laws and regulations that
are adopted or amended in the future. If the Group fails to comply with current or future
environmental and safety laws and regulations, it may be ordered to suspend the operation of the
relevant business, pay penalties or fines or take corrective actions, any or all of which may have a
material adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations and

prospects.

Any failure of the Group to maintain an effective quality control system could have an

adverse effect on the Group’s business and operations.

The Group relies on its quality control system to ensure the safety and quality of its projects.
The effectiveness of the Group’s quality control system may be affected by a number of factors,
such as the timely update of the quality control system to address changing business needs and the
Group’s and its contractors’ willingness and ability to adhere to its quality control policies and
guidelines. There can be no assurance that the quality of the projects developed by the Group will
not be undermined by the underperformance of the Group’s contractors. Any failure or
deterioration of the Group’s quality control system could result in defects in its projects, which in
turn may subject the Group to contractual, product liability and other claims. Any such claims,
regardless of whether they are ultimately successful, could cause the Group to incur significant
costs, harm its business reputation and result in significant disruption to its operations. If any of
such claims were ultimately successful, the Group could be required to pay substantial monetary

damages or penalties.
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The insurance coverage of the Group may not adequately protect it against all operational

risks.

The Group faces various operational risks in connection with its business, including but not

limited to:

. production interruptions caused by operational errors, electricity outages, raw material

shortages, the failure of equipment and other production risks;

. operating limitations imposed by environmental or other regulatory requirements;

. work-related personal injuries;

. on-site occupational accidents;

. credit risks relating to the performance of customers or other contractual third parties;

. disruption in the global capital markets and the economy in general;

o loss on investments;

. environmental or industrial accidents; and

. catastrophic events such as fires, earthquakes, explosions, floods or other natural

disasters.

The Group maintains insurance policies that the Group believes to be consistent with
applicable law and industry and business practice in the PRC. The level of coverage and types of
insurance obtained by the management of each business differs depending on the characteristics of
each business and the regulations of the jurisdictions in which it operates. There can be no
assurance that claims under those insurance policies will be honoured fully or on time, or that the
insurance coverage maintained by the Group will be sufficient to cover all the costs and liabilities
the Group incurs. Certain types of risks are not insured in the PRC because they are either
uninsurable or not economically insurable, such as risks from wars, acts of terrorism or acts of
God, business interruption, property risks and third party (public) liability. To the extent that the
Group suffers loss or damage that is not covered by insurance or that exceeds the limit of its
insurance coverage, its business, financial condition, results of operations, prospects and cash flow

may be materially and adversely affected.
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In addition, renegotiation with insurance companies upon the expiration of insurance policies
the Group maintains exposes it to the volatility of the insurance markets, including the possibility
of rate increases. Any material increase in insurance premiums or decrease in available coverage in
the future could adversely affect the Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations

and prospects.

Labour shortages and increases in labour costs could materially and adversely affect the

Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

In recent years, work stoppages, employee suicide and other similar events in certain cities in
the PRC have caused the PRC government to amend labour laws to enhance protection of
employees’ rights. Increasing awareness of labour protection as well as increasing minimum wages
is likely to increase the labour costs afforded by PRC enterprises in general, including the Group
or the contractors participating in the Group’s projects. For the years ended 31 December 2019,
2020 and 2021, the Group’s labour costs (including salaries, benefits and fund contributions)
incurred were approximately RMB142.4 million, RMBI118.2 million and RMB130.0 million,
respectively. Any labour shortages or increases in labour costs of the Group or its third-party
contractors in the future could cause an increase in the Group’s business operation costs, an
interruption of the Group’s business operations, an extension of the construction progress or an
increase in the Group’s fees payable to the contractors, which could in turn materially and

adversely affect the Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

The Group’s business may be adversely affected if it is unable to retain and hire qualified

employees.

The success of the Group’s business is dependent to a large extent on its ability to attract and
retain key personnel who possess in-depth knowledge and understanding of the industries in which
the Group operates. These key personnel include members of the Group’s senior management and
finance professionals, project development and management personnel, legal professionals, risk
management personnel, information technology and other operation personnel. Competition for
attracting and retaining these individuals is intensive and may cause the Group to offer higher
compensation and other benefits in order to attract and retain qualified professionals, which could
materially and adversely affect the Group’s financial condition and results of operations. As a
result, the Group may be unable to attract or retain personnel to achieve its business objectives and
the failure to do so could severely disrupt its business and prospects. As the Group expands its
business or hires new employees, the employees may take time to get accustomed to any new
standard procedures and consequently may not comply with the standard procedures of any new
business in an accurate and timely manner. The occurrence of any of the events discussed above
could lead to unexpected loss to the Group and adversely affect its financial condition, results of

operations and prospects.
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The Group faces increasing competition from existing and new market participants in the

industries in which it operates.

The Group competes with other infrastructure construction companies, particularly those in
Zhengzhou or other regions of Henan. Competitors may have greater access to capital, technology,
management and other resources than the Group does, and may be capable of providing a wider
range of services. These competitors may also merge or form joint ventures with the other
domestic or foreign competitors, which may intensify the competition the Group faces. As the
Group expands into new geographical markets or introduces new products and services, the Group

may be subject to competition from other market players.

Whether the Group will compete successfully depends on its ability to anticipate and respond
to many competitive factors, including continuity of its relationships with governmental entities,
customers, suppliers, partners and third party contractors, quality of products and services
provided, corporate positioning and business reputation, change in customer preferences, funding
and financing resources, introduction of new or improved technology, products or services in the
related industries or markets. There can be no assurance that existing or potential competitors of
the Group will not provide similar products or services with comparable or even better quality at
the same or even lower prices, or be more adaptable to industry trends or market changes. If the
Group fails to compete effectively or the competition with respect to the Group’s products or
services continues to increase, there would be an adverse effect on the Group’s financial results
and return on capital expenditures, which could cause a decline in the Group’s growth rates and
reduce the Group’s revenue. The Group cannot predict the extent to which this competition will

affect its future operating results.

The Group is exposed to litigation risks.

The Group may from time to time be involved in disputes with governmental entities, local
residents subject to resettlement, suppliers, contractors, employees and other third party service
providers during the course of its daily operations. See “Description of the Group — Legal
Proceedings” for further information. Claims may be brought against members of the Group based
on a number of causes such as defective or incomplete work, personal injuries, property damages,
breach of warranty or delay in completion and delivery of projects. In addition, the Group may
bring up claims against project contractors for additional costs incurred as a result of the
contractors’ underperformance or non-performance, project defects or default by the contractors. If
the disputes or claims are not resolved or settled through negotiation or mediation, the Group may
be involved in lengthy and costly litigation or arbitration proceedings, which may divert the
Group’s financial and managerial resources. In the event that the Group prevails in those legal
proceedings, there can be no assurance that the judgement or awards will be effectively enforced.
If a judgment or award is rendered against the Group, the amounts payable by the Group may not

be fully covered by the Group’s insurance. The actual amounts that need to be paid by the Group
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could differ from the provisions made by the Group. Any material charges associated with claims
brought against the Group and material write downs associated with the Group’s claims could have

a material adverse impact on its financial condition, results of operations and cash flow.

The Group may not be able to detect fraud, money laundering, other misconduct or other
illegal or improper activities by its employees, representatives, agents or other third parties

in its business operations in a timely manner.

The Group may be exposed to fraud or other misconduct committed by its employees,
representatives, agents, customers or other third parties that could subject it to financial losses and
sanctions imposed by governmental authorities, which in turn may negatively affect its reputation.

Such misconduct could include:

. hiding unauthorised or unsuccessful activities, resulting in unknown and unmanaged

risks or losses;

. intentionally concealing material facts, or failing to perform necessary due diligence
procedures designed to identify potential risks, which are material to the Group in
deciding whether to make investments or dispose of assets;

. improperly using or disclosing confidential information;

. recommending products, services or transactions that are not suitable for the Group’s

customers;
. misappropriation of funds;
. conducting transactions that exceed authorised limits;
. engaging in misrepresentation or fraudulent, deceptive or otherwise improper activities

when marketing or selling products;

. engaging in unauthorised or excessive transactions to the detriment of the Group’s

customers;

. making or accepting bribery activities;

. conducting any inside dealing; or

. otherwise not complying with applicable laws or the Group’s internal policies and
procedures.
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The Group is required to comply with applicable anti-money laundering laws and other
regulations in the PRC and any other jurisdiction in which it operates or intends to operate. Any
fraud, sales misrepresentation, money laundering and other misconduct committed by the Group’s
employees and agents and other external parties could result in violations of laws and regulations
by the Group and subject it to regulatory sanctions. Even if such instances of misconduct do not
result in any legal liabilities on the Group’s part, they could cause serious reputational or financial

harm to the Group.

Since 2006, the State Council and various PRC regulatory authorities have intensified their
efforts to combat commercial bribery in the PRC. While the Group is implementing policies and
procedures aimed at detecting and preventing employees’ and external parties’ fraud, sales
misrepresentation, money laundering and other misconduct, such policies and procedures in some
cases have only been recently adopted and may not completely eliminate instances in which it may
be used by other parties to engage in money laundering and other illegal activities. In the event
that the Group fails to detect or prevent fraud, sales misrepresentation, money laundering or other
misconduct in a timely manner, the relevant government agencies may freeze its assets or impose
fines or other penalties on it. Any of these events may materially and adversely affect the Group’s

business reputation, financial condition and results of operations.

Accidents in the Group’s business operations may expose the Group to liability and harm its

corporate image.

Some of the Group’s operations, such as the provision of construction services, are exposed
to inherent occupational hazards involving handling of heavy machinery and hazardous chemicals
and exposure to other potential industrial accidents. Mishandling of heavy machinery and
hazardous and industrial accidents could result in project delays, interruption of operations,
personal injury or fatality, environmental damage, monetary losses and legal liability. Any of these
accidents may have a material adverse impact on the Group’s business and results of operations

and, in certain cases, significantly damage the Group’s corporate image.

Although the Group has established and implemented internal protocols and systems relating
to occupational safety, there can be no assurance that those protocols and systems will be able to
address all the potential risks effectively or that they will be strictly followed. As at the date of
this Offering Circular, the Group did not experience any industrial accidents that caused severe
personal injuries or fatality or material monetary losses to the Group. However, there can be no
assurance that the Group will not in the future experience industrial accidents in the course of its

business operations.
The Group is subject to joint venture risks.
Certain of the Group’s operations are conducted through jointly controlled entities and

associated companies. Co-operation and agreement among the Group’s joint venture partners on its

existing or any future projects are important factors for the smooth operation and financial success
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of such projects. The Group’s joint venture partners may (i) have economic or business interests or
goals that are inconsistent with those of the Group; (ii) be unable or unwilling to fulfil their
obligations under the relevant joint venture or other agreements; or (iii) experience financial or
other difficulties. Further, the Group may not be able to control the decision-making process of the
joint ventures as, in some cases, it does not have majority control of the joint venture. The Group
does, however, through contractual provisions or representatives appointed by it, typically have the
ability to influence certain material decisions. Although the Group has not experienced any
significant problems with its partners to-date, no assurance can be given that disputes among its

partners will not arise in the future that could adversely affect such projects.

There are risks associated with any material acquisitions, investments, joint ventures by the

Group in the future.

The Group may consider expanding its business by acquiring certain interests in other
companies, entering into new strategic alliances and joint ventures and investing in or entering into
new business opportunities. During the course of these transactions, the Group will conduct due
diligence investigations with respect to the target companies, but the due diligence with respect to
any acquisition, investment or joint venture opportunity may not reveal all relevant facts that are
necessary or useful in evaluating such opportunity, which could subject the Group to unknown
financial and legal risks and liabilities. When determining the price for these transactions, the
Group needs to consider various factors, including the quality of the target business, estimated
costs associated with the acquisitions, investments or joint ventures and the management of the
target business, prevailing market conditions and intensity of competition. The Group needs to
address different issues arising from these transactions after the relevant transaction is completed,
such as business, operation and management integration. There can be no assurance that the Group
will be able to address these issues effectively at all times. In addition, any major acquisition,
investment, joint venture or transaction of similar nature may consume substantial management
attention and financial resources of the Group or even cause the Group to incur significant
indebtedness. Any material decrease in its financial resources may limit the Group’s ordinary
operating activities and increase pressure on its liquidity and, in turn, could adversely affect its

business, financial condition and results of operations.

The Group’s financial condition and results of operations may be affected by material

fluctuations in interest rates.

In August 2019, PBOC adopted measures to increase the influence of the loan prime rate (the
“LPR”) as part of its broader market-based reforms of the PRC’s interest rate market. The LPR
serves as the benchmark for market interest rates in the PRC. The one-year LPR was 3.85 per cent.
in December 2020 and remained at the same level in November 2021, with a decrease to 3.80 per
cent. in December 2021 and a decrease to 3.75 per cent. in April 2022. Most of the Group’s bank
loans bear interests that accrue at rates linked to the LPR. A material fluctuation in the LPR may

have a material impact on the Group’s interest expenses and payables under its bank loans and in

_ 41 —



turn negatively affect its financing costs and results of operations. Any increase in the LPR in the
future will increase the Group’s financing costs and adversely affect its profitability, financial

condition and results of operations.

As at the date of the Offering Circular, the Group has two series of U.S. dollar-denominated
offshore notes outstanding, the total principal amount of which was U.S.$500 million, and these
notes all bear fixed coupons linked to the yields of the U.S. government’s treasury bonds with
corresponding maturities. If the Group refinances such notes by way of issuing new U.S.
dollar-denominated notes in the future, an increase in the U.S. Federal Reserve interest rate as a
result of policy changes may cause the new notes to be priced at higher rates, which may increase
the Group’s financing costs. The Federal Reserve has raised its inflation expectation for 2021 to
2023, which is likely to lead to an increase in the cost of funds for banks and the prime lending
rate. In May 2022, the Federal Reserve lifted its benchmark interest rate by half a percentage
point, to a range of 0.75 per cent. to 1 per cent. after a smaller rise in March 2022 in a bid to curb
rising inflation in the United States. There can be no assurance that the Federal Reserve interest

rate would not be lifted in the future.

The Group relies on information technology systems for its business and any information
technology system limitations or failures could adversely affect its business, financial

condition, results of operations and prospects.

The Group’s business depends on the integrity and performance of the business, accounting
and other data processing systems at the holding company and at its subsidiaries. If the Group’s
systems may not be able to effectively address the issues arising from an increased business
volume or may otherwise fail to perform, the Group could experience unanticipated disruptions in
business, slower response times and limitations on its ability to monitor and manage data and risk
exposures, control financial and operating conditions, and maintain accurate records. These
consequences could result in operating outages, poor operating performance, financial losses, and,
in some cases, intervention of regulatory authorities. There can be no assurance that the Group’s
systems would not experience future system failures and delays, or the measures taken by the
Group to reduce the risk of system disruptions are adequate. If internet traffic and communication
volume increase unexpectedly or other unanticipated events occur, the Group may need to expand
and upgrade the Group’s technology, systems and network infrastructure. There can be no
assurance that the Group will be able to accurately project the rate, timing or cost of any increases,
or expand and upgrade the Group’s systems and infrastructure to accommodate any increases in a

timely manner.

The Group engages in related party transactions from time to time, which may create

potential conflicts of interest.
The Group has engaged in a variety of transactions with its related parties such as its

associates. See note 7 to the Audited Financial Statements included elsewhere in this Offering

Circular. Although the Group has taken steps to ensure such transactions are fair and based on
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market price with approval from relevant authorities, there can be no assurance that those
transactions would be deemed as arm’s length or its related parties will not take actions that favour
their interests over the Group’s. The internal control regarding the management of various related
party transactions can also be challenging and demanding for the Group. Failure to adequately
control and manage its related party transactions could have an adverse effect on the Group’s

business, financial condition or results of operations.

If the Group fails to maintain effective internal controls and sound corporate governance, its
business, financial condition, results of operations and reputation could be materially and

adversely affected.

The Group has implemented various measures to implement internal controls. However, due
to the limits of these controls, there can be no assurance that all such measures will prove effective
or that material deficiencies in the Group’s internal controls will not be discovered in the future.
For example, the Issuer is required by its articles of association to have a board of directors
comprising three directors including one employee representative director elected at the employee
representative meeting of the Issuer. The chairman of the board of directors is selected by
Zhengzhou SASAC among the members of the board of directors. However, as at the date of this
Offering Circular, the Issuer does not have a chairman of the board of directors and the
appointment of the chairman of the board of directors is pending the decision by Zhengzhou
SASAC.

The Group’s efforts to improve its internal controls have required, and in the future may
require, increased costs and significant management time and commitment. If the Group fails to
maintain effective internal controls, its business, financial condition, results of operations or

reputation could be materially and adversely affected.

RISKS RELATING TO THE PRC

China has experienced a slowdown in its economic development and the future performance

of China’s economy is uncertain.

Substantially all of the Group’s revenue is derived from its operations in the PRC. The
growth of infrastructure investment and construction demand in China depends heavily on China’s
economic growth, which has been slowing down in the past decade. There has been a slowdown in
the growth of the PRC’s GDP since the second half of 2013, which has raised market concerns that
the historic rapid growth of the economy of the PRC may not be sustainable. In March 2016,
Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. (“Moody’s”) and S&P Global Ratings (“S&P”) changed China’s
credit rating outlook to “negative” from “stable”, which highlighted the country’s surging debt
burden and raised concerns over the government’s ability to enact reforms. On 24 May 2017,
Moody’s downgraded China’s long-term local currency and foreign currency issuer ratings to Al
from Aa3 and changed the outlook to stable from negative. On 21 September 2017, S&P’s rating

services downgraded China’s credit rating by one notch from AA- to A+. The foregoing events
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highlight the country’s surging debt burden and the government’s ability to enact reforms.
According to the National Statistics Bureau of the PRC, the annual growth rate of China’s GDP
slowed from 6.0 per cent. in 2019 to 2.2 per cent. in 2020 before rebounding to 8.1 per cent. in
2021. There can be no assurance that GDP growth rates will continue to recover in the future. On
29 June 2020, S&P affirmed China’s credit rating at “A+” with a stable outlook, stating that China
is likely to maintain above-average economic growth performance relative to other middle-income
economies in the next few years. On 14 September 2020, Moody’s affirmed China’s long-term
local currency and foreign currency issuer ratings at Al with a stable outlook, citing the strength
of the country’s institutions and governance in mitigating credit risks. At the fifth session of the
13th National People’s Congress in March 2022, the PRC government announced a target GDP
growth rate of 5.5 per cent. for 2022. However, China’s growth is likely to come under the
pressure of uncertainties over the COVID-19 pandemic, U.S.-China tensions, geopolitical
developments such as the ongoing conflict between Russia and Ukraine, and ongoing efforts by the

PRC government to restructure the economy and reduce financial risks.

In addition to the economic and monetary policies of the PRC government, the future
performance of the PRC economy is also exposed to material changes in the global economic and
political environment, such as the ongoing conflict between Russia and Ukraine that began in
February 2022, as well as the performance of certain major developed economies in the world,

such as the United States, the United Kingdom and the European Union:

. on 23 June 2016, the United Kingdom voted in a national referendum to leave the
European Union, notified the European Council of its intention to leave the European
Union in accordance with Article 50(2) of the Treaty on European Union on 29 March
2017, and officially left the European Union on 31 January 2020 (“Brexit”). With Brexit
taking full effect after 31 December 2020, economic relations between the United
Kingdom and the remaining members of the European Union will continue to evolve,
and it is unclear how Brexit would ultimately affect the fiscal, monetary and regulatory

landscape within the United Kingdom, the European Union and the rest of the world.

. the Russo-Ukrainian conflict has led to significant volatility in the global markets. The
extent and duration of such conflict, resulting sanctions and future market disruptions
are impossible to predict, but could be significant and may have a material adverse
effect on the region, including a significant negative impact on the economy and the
markets for certain securities and commodities, such as oil and natural gas, as well as

certain foods including grain, and on global economies.

. the aggravation of U.S.-China trade friction, trade protectionism and the slowdown in
global economic growth have also caused volatility in the global financial market. Since
the second half of 2018, China and the United States have imposed tariffs on certain
products imported from the other country. The two countries entered into the phase one
U.S.-China trade agreement on 15 January 2020. The resulting trade policies or the

terms of any renegotiated trade agreements and their impact is uncertain. It remains to
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be seen whether the phase one U.S.-China trade agreement will be abided by both
governments and successfully reduce trade tensions. The escalating U.S.-China trade
war and the U.S. global trade policy against the PRC, including tightening regulatory
restrictions, industry-specific quotas, tariffs, non-tariff barriers and taxes may have an
adverse effect on the PRC economy. The adoption and expansion of trade restrictions,
the occurrence of a trade war, or other governmental action related to tariffs or trade
agreements or policies has the potential to adversely impact the economy of the PRC,
which in turn could adversely impact the economy of Zhengzhou, as well as the Group’s

business, financial condition and results of operations.

Uncertainties in the global and PRC economy and a reduction in liquidity in the global and
PRC financial markets may negatively affect the Group’s access to financing resources to support
its business plans and expansion. Any instability in the global economy and China’s economic
growth may materially and adversely affect the Group’s business, financial condition and results of

operations.

Changes in the economic, political and social conditions in the PRC and government policies
adopted by the PRC government could affect the Group’s business, financial condition,

results of operations and prospects.

The economy of the PRC differs from the economies of most developed countries in many
respects, including with respect to government involvement, level of development, economic
growth rate, control of foreign exchange and allocation of resources. The economy of the PRC has
been transitioning from a planned economy to a more market-oriented economy. In recent years,
the PRC government has implemented a series of measures emphasising market forces for
economic reform, the reduction of state ownership of productive assets and the establishment of

sound corporate governance in business enterprises.

However, the PRC government continues to play a significant role in regulating the
development of industries in the PRC by imposing top-down policies. A large portion of
productive assets in the PRC remain owned by the PRC government. The PRC government
continues to play a significant role in regulating industrial development, the allocation of
resources, production, pricing and management, controlling the payment of foreign
currency-denominated obligations, setting monetary policy and providing preferential treatment to
particular industries or companies. There can be no assurance that future changes in the PRC’s
political, economic and social conditions, laws, regulations and policies will not have a material
adverse effect on the Group’s current or future business and financial condition. In addition, there
can be no assurance that the PRC government will continue to pursue economic reforms or that
any such reforms, even if they are beneficial to the country as a whole, will not have an adverse

effect on the Group’s business.
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The Group’s operations and financial results could be affected by changes in political,
economic and social conditions or the relevant policies of the PRC government, such as changes in
laws and regulations (or the interpretation thereof). In addition, the demand for infrastructure
construction in the PRC depends heavily on economic growth. If the PRC’s economic growth
slows down or if the economy of the PRC experiences a recession, the demand for Chinese
infrastructure construction may also slow down, and the Group’s business prospects may be
materially and adversely affected. The Group’s operations and financial results, as well as its
ability to satisfy its obligations under the Notes, could also be materially and adversely affected by
changes to or introduction of measures to control changes in the rate or method of taxation and the

imposition of additional restrictions on currency conversion.

The operations of the Group may be affected by inflation and deflation within the PRC.

Economic growth in the PRC has historically been accompanied by periods of high inflation.
Increasing inflation rates were caused by many factors beyond the Group’s control, such as rising
production and labour costs, high lending levels, changes in national and foreign governmental
policies and regulations as well as movements in exchange rates and interest rates. It is impossible
to accurately predict future inflationary trends. If inflation rates rise beyond the Group’s
expectations, the Group may be unable to increase the price of its services and products in
amounts that are sufficient to cover its increasing operating costs. Further inflationary pressures
within the PRC may have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial condition or

results of operations.

Recently, concerns have arisen over deflationary pressures in the PRC as a result of weak
domestic demand and a slowing economy. Inflation rates within the PRC have been on a
downward trend in recent years. A prolonged period of deflation may result in falling profits,
closure of plants and shrinking employment and incomes by companies and individuals, any of

which could adversely affect the Group’s business, financial condition or results of operations.

Uncertainty with respect to the PRC legal system could affect the Group.

As substantially all of the Group’s businesses are conducted, and substantially all of the
Group’s assets are located, in the PRC, the Group’s operations are governed principally by PRC
laws and regulations. The PRC legal system is based on written statutes while prior court decisions
can only be cited as reference. Since 1979, the PRC government has promulgated laws and
regulations in relation to economic matters such as foreign investment, corporate organisation and
governance, commerce, taxation, foreign exchange and trade, with a view to developing a
comprehensive system of commercial law. However, China has not developed a fully integrated
legal system and recently enacted laws and regulations that may not sufficiently cover all aspects
of economic activities in the PRC. In particular, because these laws and regulations are relatively
new, and because of the limited volume of published decisions and their non-binding nature, the
interpretation and enforcement of these laws and regulations involve uncertainties. As a result, the

Group may not be aware of the Group’s violation of these policies and rules until sometime after
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the violation. In addition, any litigation in the PRC may be protracted and result in substantial
costs and diversion of resources and management’s attention and it may be difficult to obtain a
swift and equitable enforcement of laws in the PRC, or the enforcement of judgements by a court
of another jurisdiction. These uncertainties relating to the interpretation and implementation of
PRC laws and regulations may adversely affect the legal protections and remedies that are

available to the Group in its operations and to the holders of the Notes.

Investors may experience difficulties in effecting service of legal process and enforcing

judgments against the Group and the Group’s management.

The Issuer and its subsidiaries are incorporated in the PRC and their respective assets are
located in the PRC. In addition, most of the Issuer’s directors, supervisors and executive officers
reside within the PRC. As a result, it may not be possible to effect service of process outside the
PRC upon most of the Group’s directors, supervisors and senior management, including for matters
arising under applicable securities law. A judgment of a court of another jurisdiction may be
reciprocally recognised or enforced if the jurisdiction has a treaty with China or if judgments of
the PRC courts have been recognised before in that jurisdiction, subject to the satisfaction of other
requirements. However, China does not have treaties providing for the reciprocal recognition and
enforcement of judgments of courts with many countries, including Japan, the United States and
the United Kingdom. Therefore, it may be difficult for potential investors to enforce any
judgments obtained from foreign courts against the Group, the Issuer, any of their respective

directors, supervisors or senior management in the PRC.

The Group is subject to restrictions on the remittance of Renminbi into and out of the PRC
and governmental controls on currency conversion, and may be affected by the risks relating

to fluctuations in exchange rates in the future.

The value of Renminbi, the reporting currency of the Group, against U.S. dollar and other
foreign currencies is subject to changes in the PRC’s policies, as well as international economic
and political developments. On 21 July 2005, the PRC government adopted a more flexible
managed floating exchange rate system to allow the value of Renminbi to fluctuate within a
regulated band that is based on market supply and demand with reference to a basket of currencies.
From 21 July 2005 to 17 March 2014, the floating band of interbank spot foreign exchange market
trading price of Renminbi against U.S. dollar was gradually widened from 0.3 per cent. to 2 per
cent. On 11 August 2015, PBOC adjusted the mechanism for market makers to form the central
parity rate by requiring them to consider the closing exchange rate of the last trading date, the
supply and demand of foreign exchange and the rate change at primary international currencies.
On 11 December 2015, the China Foreign Exchange Trade System, a sub-institutional organisation
of PBOC, published the China Foreign Exchange Trade System (CFETS) Renminbi exchange rate
index for the first time which weighs Renminbi based on 13 currencies, to guide the market in
order to measure the Renminbi exchange rate from a new perspective. Although starting from 1
October 2016, Renminbi has been added to the Special Drawing Rights basket created by the

International Monetary Fund, there can be no assurance that the PRC government will continue to
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gradually liberalise the control over cross-border Renminbi remittances in the future, that any pilot
schemes for Renminbi cross-border utilisation will not be discontinued or that new PRC
regulations will not be promulgated in the future which have the effect of restricting the remittance

of Renminbi into or outside the PRC.

In addition, the value of Renminbi has depreciated significantly against U.S. dollar since the
end of 2015 and there can be no assurance that Renminbi will not experience significant
depreciation or appreciation against U.S. dollar or against any other currency in the future. The
exchange rate between Renminbi and U.S. dollar experienced further fluctuation between 1
January 2016 and the date of this Offering Circular. On 5 August 2019, PBOC set the Renminbi’s
daily reference rate above RMB per U.S. dollar for the first time in over a decade amidst an
uncertain trade and global economic climate. There remains significant international pressure on
the PRC government to adopt an even more flexible currency policy, which could result in further
and more significant appreciation of Renminbi against U.S. dollar. If further reforms are
implemented and result in devaluation of Renminbi against U.S. dollar, the Group’s business,
financial condition, results of operations and prospects could be adversely affected because of the
Group’s U.S. dollar denominated indebtedness and other obligations. Such devaluation could also
adversely affect the value, translated or converted into U.S. dollars or otherwise, of the Group’s

earnings and ability of the Issuer to satisfy its obligations under the Notes.

The payment of dividends by the Issuer’s operating subsidiaries in the PRC is subject to

restrictions under PRC laws.

The PRC laws require that dividends be paid only out of net profit, calculated according to
the PRC accounting principles, which differ from generally accepted accounting principles in other
jurisdictions. In addition, the PRC law requires enterprises to set aside part of their net profit as
statutory reserves before distributing the net profit for the current financial year. These statutory
reserves are not available for distribution as cash dividends. Since the availability of funds to fund
the Issuer’s operations and to service its indebtedness depends upon dividends received from these
subsidiaries, any legal restrictions on the availability and usage of dividend payments from the
Issuer’s subsidiaries may impact the Issuer’s ability to fund its operations and to service its

indebtedness.

The implementation of PRC employment regulations may increase labour costs in the PRC

generally.

The PRC Labour Contract Law imposes strict requirements on employers in relation to entry
into fixed-term employment contracts and dismissal of employees. Pursuant to the PRC Labour
Contract Law, the employer is required to make compensation payment to a fixed-term contract
employee when the term of their employment contract expires, unless the employee does not agree
to renew the contract even though the conditions offered by the employer for renewal are the same
as or better than those stipulated in the current employment contract. In general, the amount of

compensation payment is equal to the monthly wage of the employee multiplied by the number of
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full years that the employee has worked for the employer. A minimum wage requirement has also
been incorporated into the PRC Labour Contract Law. In addition, unless otherwise prohibited by
the PRC Labour Contract Law or objected to by the employees themselves, the employer is also
required to enter into non-fixed-term employment contracts with employees who have previously

entered into fixed-term employment contracts for two consecutive terms.

In addition, under the Regulations on Paid Annual Leave for Employees (¥ T.71 37 4 R ¢
), which became effective on 1 January 2008, employees who have worked continuously for
more than one year are entitled to paid annual leave ranging from 5 to 15 days, depending on the
length of the employees’ work time. Employees who consent to waive such vacation at the request
of employers shall be compensated an amount equal to three times their normal daily salaries for
each vacation day being waived. Under the National Leisure and Tourism Outline 2013-2020 ([ [&
ik 4% PR P 4 222013-2020) which became effective on 2 February 2013, all workers must receive
paid annual leave by 2020. As a result of the PRC Labour Contract Law, the Regulations on Paid
Annual Leave for Employees and the National Leisure and Tourism Outline 2013-2020, the
Group’s labour costs (inclusive of those incurred by contractors) may increase. Further, under the
PRC Labour Contract Law, when an employer terminates its PRC employees’ employment, the
employer may be required to compensate them for such amount which is determined based on their
length of service with the employer, and the employer may not be able to efficiently terminate
non-fixed-term employment contracts under the PRC Labour Contract Law without cause. In the
event the Group decides to significantly change or decrease its workforce, the PRC Labour
Contract Law could adversely affect its ability to effect these changes in a cost-effective manner or
in the manner that the Group desires, which could result in an adverse impact on the Group’s

business, financial condition and results of operations.

Further, in the event that there is a labour shortage or a significant increase to labour costs,
the Group’s business operation costs is likely to increase. In such circumstances, the profit margin
may decrease and the financial results may be adversely affected. In addition, inflation in the PRC
has increased in recent years. Inflation in the PRC increases the costs of raw materials required by
the Group for conducting its business and the costs of labour as well. Rising labour costs may
increase the Group’s operating costs and partially erode the cost advantage of the Group’s

operations and therefore negatively impact the Group’s profitability.
RISKS RELATING TO THE NOTES
The PRC government has no obligations under the Notes.

The PRC government (including Zhengzhou SASAC) is not an obligor and shall under no
circumstances have any obligation arising out of or in connection with the Notes in lieu of the
Issuer. This position has been reinforced by the MOF Circular 23 and the Joint Circular 706. On 6
June 2019, the NDRC further issued the Circular 666 which became effective on the same day,
aiming to strengthen the management of local government debt and prevent the risks of medium

and long-term foreign debts and hidden debt of the local government. Pursuant to Circular 666,
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local state-owned enterprises shall assume the responsibility of repaying foreign debts as
independent legal persons, while local governments and departments thereof shall not directly
repay or undertake to repay the foreign debts of local state-owned enterprises with fiscal funds,

nor shall they provide guarantees or the issuance of foreign debts by local state-owned enterprises.

The PRC government (including Zhengzhou SASAC) as the ultimate shareholder of the Issuer
only has limited liability in the form of its equity contribution in the Issuer. As such, the PRC
government (including Zhengzhou SASAC) does not have any payment obligations under the
Notes or the Trust Deed. Investments in the Notes are relying solely on the credit risk of the
Issuer. In the event the Issuer does not fulfil its obligations under the Notes, investors will only be
able to claim as an unsecured creditor against the Issuer and its assets, and not any other person
including the PRC government (including Zhengzhou SASAC), any other local or municipal
government authorities and/or any other member of the Group. In addition, any ownership or
control by PRC government (including Zhengzhou SASAC) does not necessarily correlate to, or
provide any assurance as to, the Issuer’s financial condition. If the Issuer does not fulfil its
obligations under the Notes and the Trust Deed, the Noteholders will only have recourse against
the Issuer, and not PRC government (including Zhengzhou SASAC). As the MOF Circular 23, the
Joint Circular 706 and Circular 666 are relatively new and given the limited volume of published
decisions related to these circulars, the interpretation and enforcement of these laws and
regulations involve uncertainties and any adverse interpretation and enforcement of such laws and
regulations in the future may materially and adversely affect the Group’s business, financial

condition, results of operations and prospects.

The Notes are unsecured obligations.

As the Notes are unsecured obligations of the Issuer, the repayment of the Notes may be

compromised if:

. the Issuer enters into bankruptcy, liquidation, reorganisation or other winding-up

proceedings;

. there is a default in payment under the Issuer’s secured indebtedness or other unsecured

indebtedness; or

. there is an acceleration of any of the Issuer’s indebtedness.

If any of these events were to occur, the Issuer’s assets and any amounts received from the

sale of such assets may not be sufficient to pay amounts due on the Notes.
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The Notes may not be a suitable investment for all investors.

The Notes are complex financial instruments and may be purchased as a way to reduce risk
or enhance yield with a measured appropriate addition of risk to the investor’s overall portfolios. A
potential investor should not invest in the Notes unless it has the expertise (either alone or with
the help of a financial adviser) to evaluate how the Notes will perform under changing conditions,
the resulting effects on the value of such Notes and the impact this investment will have on the

potential investor’s overall investment portfolio.

Each potential investor in the Notes must determine the suitability of that investment in light

of its own circumstances. In particular, each potential investor should:

. have sufficient knowledge and experience to make a meaningful evaluation of the Notes,
the merits and risks of investing in the Notes and the information contained or

incorporated by reference in this Offering Circular or any applicable supplement;

. have access to, and knowledge of, appropriate analytical tools to evaluate, in the context
of its particular financial situation, an investment in the Notes and the impact such

investment will have on its overall investment portfolio;

. have the ability to understand and evaluate all information and materials with respect to

the Issuer and the Group, including those in the Chinese language;

. have sufficient financial resources and liquidity to bear all of the risks of an investment
in the Notes including where principal or interest is payable in one or more currencies,
or where the currency for principal or interest payments is different from the potential

investor’s currency;

. understand thoroughly the terms of the Notes and be familiar with the behaviour of any

relevant indices and financial markets; and

. be able to evaluate (either alone or with the help of a financial adviser) possible
economic scenarios, such as interest rate and other factors which may affect its

investment and the ability to bear the applicable risks.

A potential investor should not invest in the Notes, which are complex financial instruments,
unless it has the expertise (either alone or with the help of a financial adviser) to evaluate how the
Notes may perform under changing conditions, the resulting effects on the value of such Notes and
the impact this investment will have on the potential investor’s overall investment portfolio. In
addition, the investment activities of certain investors are subject to legal investment laws and
regulations, or review or regulation by certain authorities. Each potential investor should consult
its legal advisers to determine whether and to what extent (a) the Notes are legal investments for

it, (b) the Notes can be used as collateral for various types of borrowing and (c) other restrictions
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apply to its purchase of any Notes. Financial institutions should consult their legal advisers or the
appropriate regulators to determine the appropriate treatment of the Notes under any applicable

risk-based capital or similar rules.

An active trading market for the Notes may not develop.

The Notes are a new issue of securities for which there is currently no trading market.
Although applications will be made to the HKSE and the MOX for the listing of, and permission
to deal in, the Notes by way of debt issues to Professional Investors and (in the case of debt issues
to persons in Macau) MOX Professional Investors only, no assurance can be given that such
application will be approved, or even if the Notes become so listed, an active trading market for
the Notes will develop or be sustained. No assurance can be given as to the ability of holders to
sell their Notes or the price at which holders will be able to sell their Notes or that a liquid market
will develop. The liquidity of the Notes will be adversely affected if the Notes are held or
allocated to a limited number of investors. Accordingly, there can be no assurance as to the
liquidity of the Notes or that an active trading market will develop. If such a market were to
develop, the Notes could trade at prices that may be higher or lower than the initial issue price
depending on many factors, including prevailing interest rates, the Group’s operations and the
market for similar securities. If the Notes are traded at a discount, investors may not be able to
receive a favourable price for their Notes, and in some circumstances investors may not be able to
sell their Notes at all or at their fair market value. In addition, the market for investment grade and
crossover grade debt has been subject to disruptions that have caused volatility in prices of
securities similar to the Notes. None of the Joint Lead Managers is obligated to make a market in
the Notes, and if the Joint Lead Managers do so, they may discontinue such market making
activity at any time at their sole discretion. In addition, the Notes are being offered pursuant to
exemptions from registration under the Securities Act and, as a result, holders will only be able to
resell their Notes in transactions that have been registered under the Securities Act or in

transactions not subject to or exempt from registration under the Securities Act.

The liquidity and price of the Notes following the offering may be volatile.

The price and trading volume of the Notes may be highly volatile. Factors such as variations
in the Group’s turnover, earnings and cash flows, proposals for new investments, strategic
alliances and/or acquisitions, changes in interest rates, fluctuations in price for comparable
companies, changes in government regulations and changes in general economic conditions
nationally or internationally could cause the price of the Notes to change. Any such developments
may result in large and sudden changes in the trading volume and price of the Notes. There can be

no assurance that these developments will not occur in the future.
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Certain initial investors may purchase a significant portion of the Notes and may therefore be

able to exercise certain rights and powers on their own.

Certain initial investors may purchase a significant portion of the aggregate principal amount
of the Notes in this offering. Any holder of a majority of the aggregate principal amount of the
Notes will be able to exercise certain rights and powers on its own under the Terms and
Conditions of the Notes and the Trust Deed, which will be binding on other holders of the Notes
and control the outcome of votes on such matters. Any holder of a significant percentage of the
Notes, even if less than a majority, will be able to exercise certain rights and powers and will have

significant influence on matters voted on by Noteholders.

Developments in other markets may adversely affect the market price of the Notes.

The market price of the Notes may be materially and adversely affected by declines in the
international financial markets and world economic conditions. The market for Chinese securities
is, to varying degrees, influenced by economic and market conditions in other markets, especially
those in Asia. Although economic conditions are different in each country, investors’ reactions to
developments in one country can affect the securities markets and the securities of issuers in other
countries, including China. Since the sub-prime mortgage crisis in 2008, the international financial
markets have experienced significant volatility. If similar developments occur in the international
financial markets in the future, the market price of the Notes could be materially and adversely
affected.

For example, the trade dispute between the PRC and the United States may have a material
and adverse effect on the global and PRC economies resulting in continuing uncertainty for the
overall prospects for the global and PRC economies. In January 2020, the PRC and the United
States signed a phase one trade deal, which includes, among others, commitments by the PRC to
increase purchases of goods and services from the United States. However, the Issuer cannot
predict as to the implementation or effect of the phase one trade deal between the PRC and the
United States. It remains uncertain whether or not the PRC and the United States would be able to
reach any further trade agreement or otherwise resolve their remaining trade issues in the near
future or at all. Other global events such as the outbreak of the COVID-19 since 2020 and the
recent armed conflict between Russia and Ukraine also cause substantial uncertainty in the
international financial markets, including but not limited to further decreases in global stock
exchange indices and increased foreign exchange volatility. The adoption and expansion of trade
restrictions, the occurrence and escalation of a trade war, or other governmental action related to
tariffs or trade agreements or policies, have the potential to materially and adversely impact the
PRC economy and the international financial markets, which could in turn materially and

adversely affect the market price of the Notes.
As a result of the above, the global economy is facing significant uncertainties and the global

financial markets are experiencing significant volatilities which may adversely affect the market

price of the Notes. Investors must exercise caution before making any investment decisions.
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Investment in the Notes is subject to exchange rate risks.

The Notes are denominated and payable in U.S. dollars. Investment in the Notes is subject to
exchange rate risks. The value of the U.S. dollar against the Renminbi and other foreign currencies
fluctuates and is affected by changes in the United States and international political and economic
conditions and by many other factors. The Issuer will make all payments of interest and principal
with respect to the Notes in U.S. dollar. As a result, the value of these U.S. dollar payments may
vary with the prevailing exchange rates in the marketplace. If the value of the U.S. dollar
depreciates against the Renminbi or other foreign currencies, the value of a Noteholder’s

investment in Renminbi or other applicable foreign currency terms will decline.

The Issuer will follow the applicable corporate disclosure standards for debt securities listed
on the HKSE and MOX, which standards may be different from those applicable to

companies in certain other countries.

Issuer will be subject to reporting obligations in respect of the Notes to be listed on the
HKSE and MOX. The disclosure standards imposed by the HKSE and MOX may be different than
those imposed by securities exchanges in other countries or regions. As a result, the level of

information that is available may not correspond to what Noteholders are accustomed to.

Changes in interest rates may have an adverse effect on the price of the Notes.

The Noteholders may suffer unforeseen losses due to fluctuations in interest rates. Generally,
a rise in interest rates may cause a fall in the prices of the Notes, resulting in a capital loss for the
Noteholders. However, the Noteholders may reinvest the interest payments at higher prevailing
interest rates. Conversely, when interest rates fall, the prices of the Notes may rise. The
Noteholders may enjoy a capital gain, but interest payments received may be reinvested at lower
prevailing interest rates. As the Notes will carry a fixed interest rate, the trading price of the Notes
will consequently vary with the fluctuations in interest rates. If the Noteholders propose to sell
their Notes before their maturity, they may receive an offer lower than the amount they have

invested.

Notes which have a denomination that is not an integral multiple of the minimum specified

denomination may be illiquid and difficult to trade.

The denominations of the Notes are U.S.$200,000 and integral multiples of U.S.$1,000 in
excess thereof. Therefore, it is possible that the Notes may be traded in amounts in excess of
U.S.$200,000 that are not integral multiples of U.S.$200,000. In such a case, a Noteholder who, as
a result of trading such amounts, holds a principal amount of less than U.S.$200,000 will not
receive a definitive certificate in respect of such holding of Notes (should definitive certificates be

printed) and would need to purchase a principal amount of Notes such that it holds an amount

— 54 —



equal to one or more denominations. If definitive certificates are issued, Noteholders should be
aware that Notes with aggregate principal amounts that are not an integral multiple of
U.S.$200,000 may be illiquid and difficult to trade.

The Issuer may be unable to redeem the Notes.

On certain dates, including but not limited to the occurrence of a Change of Control or a
Non-Registration Event and at maturity of the Notes, the Issuer may, and at maturity will, be
required to redeem all of the Notes. If such an event were to occur, the Issuer may not have
sufficient cash in hand and may not be able to arrange financing to redeem the Notes in time, or
on acceptable terms, or at all. The ability to redeem the Notes in such event may also be limited
by the terms of other debt instruments. Failure to redeem the Notes by the Issuer, in such
circumstances, would constitute an Event of Default under the Notes, which may also constitute a

default under the terms of other indebtedness of the Issuer or its subsidiaries.

Any failure to complete the relevant filing under the NDRC Circular and the relevant filings
with SAFE within the prescribed timeframe following the issue of the Notes may have

adverse consequences for the Issuer and/or investors of the Notes.

The NDRC issued the NDRC Circular on 14 September 2015, which came into effect on the
same day. According to the NDRC Circular, domestic enterprises and their overseas controlled
entities shall procure the registration of any debt securities issued outside the PRC with the NDRC
prior to the issue of the securities and notify the particulars of the relevant issues within ten
working days after the completion of the issue of the securities. The NDRC Circular is silent on
the legal consequences of noncompliance with the pre-issue registration requirement. The Issuer
has obtained the NDRC pre-issuance registration on 8 March 2022. Similarly, the legal
consequences of non-compliance with the post issue notification requirement under the NDRC
Circular are unclear. In the worst-case scenario, such non-compliance with the post-issue
notification requirement under the NDRC Circular may result in it being unlawful for the Issuer to
perform or comply with any of its obligations under the Notes. The Issuer undertakes to file or
cause to be filed with the NDRC the requisite information and documents within 10 PRC Business

Days after the Issue Date in accordance with the NDRC Circular.

SAFE issued the Administrative Measures for Foreign Debt Registration (¥Me & 50 & HH#L)
(the “Foreign Debt Registration Measures”) on 28 April 2013, which came into effect on 13 May
2013. According to the Foreign Debt Registration Measures, the debtor shall submit foreign debt
registration when borrowing foreign debts in accordance with laws and regulations. For the
domestic debtors besides financial institutions and banks (“Non-Bank Debtors”), they shall submit
filing or registration procedures of foreign debts with the local counterparts of the SAFE.
According to the Operation Guidelines for Administration of Foreign Debt Registration (¥M& &0
EIPEVEFE5]) promulgated together with Foreign Debt Registration Measures, Non-Bank Debtors
shall complete foreign debt registration procedure within 15 working days after execution of

related deeds of foreign debts. In addition, the PBOC issued the Circular on Relevant matters
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about the Macro-Prudential Management of Cross-Border Financing in Full Aperture (71 A 4R
A7 B 4 10 A8 05 55l % B 1R B B SE LAY ) and which came into effect on 12 January
2017. SAFE issued the Guidelines for the Foreign Exchange Operations on Capital Projects (2020
edition)  (BIZKANHER B R &5 & wl B S BD 3% CEATH H AMESEFF 46 51 (20204 1)) BYHEAT).  The
Issuer understands from consultation with local SAFE that the aforementioned circular and
guidelines will be applicable to the issue of the Notes. Pursuant to article 40 of the Foreign Debt
Administration Provisional Rules (JM&EE B 17 H#i%) promulgated by the MOF, the NDRC and
SAFE, a failure by a domestic entity to register a foreign debt contract will render the contract not
legally binding and unenforceable. Thus, before such registration of the Notes is completed, it is
uncertain whether the Notes are enforceable as a matter of PRC law and it may be difficult for
Noteholders to recover amounts due from the Issuer, and the Issuer may not be able to remit the
proceeds of the issue of the Notes into the PRC or remit money out of the PRC in order to meet its
payment obligations under the Notes. In the unlikely event that the Issuer is unable to complete
such registration within the relevant time period, Noteholders will have the right to require the
Issue to redeem their holding of Notes. However, notwithstanding such right, if the Issuer fails to
complete the registration with the local branch of SAFE, the Issuer may have difficulty in
remitting funds offshore to service payments in respect of the Notes and investors may encounter
difficulties in enforcing judgments obtained in the Hong Kong courts with respect to the Notes and
the Trust Deed in the PRC. In such circumstances, the value and secondary market price of the

Notes may be materially and adversely affected.

The Notes will be structurally subordinated to the existing and future indebtedness and other
liabilities of the Issuer’s existing and future subsidiaries and effectively subordinated to the

Issuer’s secured debt to the extent of the value of the collateral securing such indebtedness.

The Notes will be structurally subordinated to any debt and other liabilities and
commitments, including trade payables and lease obligations, of the Issuer’s existing and future
subsidiaries whether or not secured. The Notes will not be guaranteed by any of the Issuer’s
subsidiaries, and the Issuer may not have direct access to the assets of such subsidiaries unless
these assets are transferred by dividend or otherwise to the Issuer. The ability of such subsidiaries
to pay dividends or otherwise transfer assets to the Issuer is subject to various restrictions under
applicable laws. The Issuer’s subsidiaries are separate legal entities that have no obligation to pay
any amounts due under the Notes or make any funds available therefore, whether by dividends,
loans or other payments. The Issuer’s right to receive assets of any of the Issuer’s subsidiaries,
respectively, upon that subsidiary’s liquidation or reorganisation will be effectively subordinated to
the claim of that subsidiary’s creditors (except to the extent that the Issuer is creditor of that
subsidiary). Consequently, the Notes will be effectively subordinated to all liabilities, including
trade payables and lease obligations, of any of the Issuer’s subsidiaries, and any subsidiaries that

the Issuer may in the future acquire or establish.
The Notes are the Issuer’s unsecured obligations and will (i) rank equally in right of payment

with all the Issuer’s other present and future unsecured indebtedness; (ii) be effectively

subordinated to all of the Issuer’s present and future secured indebtedness to the extent of the
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value of the collateral securing such obligations; and (iii) be senior to all of the Issuer’s present
and future subordinated obligations. As a result, claims of secured lenders, whether senior or
junior, with respect to assets securing their loans will be prior with respect to those assets. In the
event of the Issuer’s bankruptcy, insolvency, liquidation, reorganisation, dissolution or other
winding up, or upon any acceleration of the Notes, these assets will be available to pay obligations
on the Notes only after all other debt secured by these assets has been repaid in full. Any
remaining assets will be available to the Noteholders rateably with all of the Issuer’s other
unsecured creditors, including trade creditors. If there are not sufficient assets remaining to pay all

these creditors, then all or a portion of the Notes then outstanding would remain unpaid.

The insolvency laws of the PRC and other local insolvency laws may differ from those of

another jurisdiction with which the holders of the Notes are familiar.

Since the Issuer is incorporated under the laws of the PRC, any insolvency proceedings
relating to the Issuer even if brought in other jurisdictions, would likely involve the PRC
insolvency laws, the procedural and substantive provisions of which may differ from comparable
provisions of the local insolvency laws of jurisdictions with which the holders of the Notes are

familiar.

The Issuer’s subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities and associated companies may be subject
to restrictions on the payment of dividends and the repayment of intercompany loans or

advances to the Issuer, its jointly controlled entities and associated companies.

As a holding company, the Issuer will depend on the receipt of dividends and the interest and
principal payments on intercompany loans or advances from its subsidiaries, jointly controlled
entities and associated companies to satisfy its obligations under the Notes. The ability of the
Issuer’s subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities and associated companies to pay dividends and
make payments on intercompany loans or advances to their shareholders is subject to, among other
things, distributable earnings, cash flow conditions, restrictions contained in the articles of
association of these companies, applicable laws and restrictions contained in the debt instruments
of such companies. There can be no assurance that the Issuer’s subsidiaries, jointly controlled
entities and associated companies will have distributable earnings or will be permitted to distribute
their distributable earnings to the Issuer as it anticipates, or at all. In addition, dividends payable
to the Issuer by these companies are limited by the percentage of its equity ownership in these
companies. Some portfolio companies may conclude that it is in the best interest of their
shareholders to retain earnings, if any, for use in the operation and expansion of their businesses.
The shareholders or the board of directors of a portfolio company (as the case may be) have the
power to determine whether to pay dividends based on conditions then existing, including the
company’s earnings, financial condition and capital requirements, as well as economic and other
conditions the shareholders or the board may deem relevant. In particular, the Issuer does not
maintain complete control over its jointly controlled entities or associates in which it might hold a
minority interest. Further, if any of these companies raises capital by issuing equity securities to

third parties, dividends declared and paid with respect to such shares would not be available to the
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Issuer to make payments under the Notes. These factors could reduce the payments that the Issuer
receives from its subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities and associated companies, which would

restrict its ability to meet its payment obligations under the Notes.

If the Issuer is unable to comply with the restrictions and covenants in its debt agreements (if
any), there could be a default under the terms of these agreements, which could cause

repayment of its debt to be accelerated.

If the Issuer is unable to comply with its current or future debt obligations and other
agreements (if any), there could be a default under the terms of these agreements. In the event of a
default under these agreements, the holders of the debt could terminate their commitments to lend
to the Issuer, accelerate repayment of the debt and declare all outstanding amounts due and
payable or terminate the agreements, as the case may be. Furthermore, some debt agreements of
the Issuer may contain cross-acceleration or cross-default provisions. As a result, default under one
debt agreement of the Issuer may cause the acceleration of repayment of not only such debt but
also other debt, including the Notes, or result in a default under other debt agreements of the
Issuer. If any of these events occur, the Issuer cannot assure holders that its assets and cash flows
would be sufficient to repay in full all of its indebtedness, or that they would be able to find
alternative financing. Even if they could obtain alternative financing, there can be no assurance

that it would be on terms that are favourable or acceptable to them.
A change in English law which governs the Notes may adversely affect holders of the Notes.

The Terms and Conditions of the Notes and other transaction documents in relation to the
Notes are governed by English law. No assurance can be given as to the impact of any possible
judicial decision or change to English law or administrative practice after the date of issue of the
Notes.

Additional procedures may be required to be taken to bring English law governed matters or
disputes to the Hong Kong courts and the holders of the Notes would need to be subject to
the exclusive jurisdiction of the Hong Kong courts. There is also no assurance that the PRC
courts will recognise and enforce judgments of the Hong Kong courts in respect of English

law governed matters or disputes.

The Terms and Conditions of the Notes and other transaction documents in relation to the
Notes are governed by English law, whereas parties to these documents have submitted to the
exclusive jurisdiction of the Hong Kong courts. In order to hear English law governed matters
or disputes, Hong Kong courts may require certain additional procedures to be taken. Under
the Arrangement on Reciprocal Recognition and Enforcement of Judgments in Civil and
Commercial Matters by the Courts of the Mainland and of the Hong Kong Special

Administrative Region Pursuant to Choice of Court Agreements between Parties Concerned (#%
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B 22 PE (15 FE[2008199%)), judgments of Hong Kong courts are likely to be recognised and
enforced by the PRC courts where the contracting parties to the transactions pertaining to such

judgments have agreed to submit to the exclusive jurisdiction of Hong Kong courts.

However, recognition and enforcement of a Hong Kong court judgment could be refused if
the PRC courts consider that the enforcement of such judgment is contrary to the social and public
interest of the PRC or meets other circumstances specified by the Arrangement on Reciprocal
Recognition and Enforcement of Judgments in Civil and Commercial Matters by the Courts of the
Mainland and of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region Pursuant to Choice of Court
Agreements between Parties Concerned. While it is expected that the PRC courts will recognise
and enforce a judgment given by Hong Kong courts in respect of a dispute governed by English
law, there can be no assurance that the PRC courts will do so for all such judgments as there is no
established practice in this area. Compared to other similar debt securities issuances in the
international capital markets where the relevant holders of the debt securities would not typically
be required to submit to an exclusive jurisdiction, the holders of the Notes will be deemed to have
submitted to the exclusive jurisdiction of the Hong Kong courts, and thus the holder’s ability to

initiate a claim outside of Hong Kong will be limited.

The Trustee may request holders of the Notes to provide an indemnity and/or security and/or

pre-funding to its satisfaction.

Where the Trustee is under the provisions of the Trust Deed bound to act at the request or
direction of the Noteholders, the Trustee shall nevertheless not be so bound unless first
indemnified and/or provided with security and/or pre-funded to its satisfaction against all actions,
proceedings, claims and demands to which it may render itself liable and all costs, charges,
damages, expenses and liabilities which it may incur by so doing. Negotiating and agreeing to an
indemnity and/or security and/or pre-funding can be a lengthy process and may impact on when
such actions can be taken. The Trustee may not be able to take actions, notwithstanding the
provision of an indemnity or security or pre-funding, in breach of the terms of the Trust Deed or
the Terms and Conditions of the Notes and in circumstances where there is uncertainty or dispute
as to the applicable laws or regulations and, to the extent permitted by the agreements and the

applicable law, it will be for the holders of the Notes to take such actions directly.

Modifications and waivers may be made in respect of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes
and the Trust Deed by the Trustee or less than all of the holders of the Notes, and decisions
may be made on behalf of all holders of the Notes that may be adverse to the interests of the
individual holders of the Notes.

The Terms and Conditions of the Notes contain provisions for calling meetings of the holders
of the Notes to consider matters affecting their interests generally. These provisions permit defined
majorities to bind all Noteholders including those Noteholders who did not attend and vote at the
relevant meeting and those Noteholders who voted in a manner contrary to the majority. There is a

risk that the decision of the majority of holders of the Notes may be adverse to the interests of the
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individual holders of the Notes. The Terms and Conditions of the Notes also provide that the
Trustee may, without the consent of the holders of the Notes, agree to any modification of the
Terms and Conditions of the Notes or the Trust Deed (other than in respect of a reserved matter)
which in the opinion of the Trustee will not be materially prejudicial to the interests of the holders
of the Notes and to any modification of the Notes or the Trust Deed which is of a formal, minor or

technical nature or is to correct a manifest error.

In addition, the Trustee may, without the consent of the holders of the Notes, authorise or
waive any proposed breach or breach of the Notes or Trust Deed (other than a proposed breach or
breach relating to the subject of certain reserved matters) if, in the opinion of the Trustee, the

interests of the holders of the Notes will not be materially prejudiced thereby.

The Notes will initially be represented by a Global Note Certificate and holders of a
beneficial interest in the Global Note Certificate must rely on the procedures of the relevant

Clearing System.

The Notes will initially be represented by a Global Note Certificate. Such Global Note
Certificate will be deposited with a common depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream (each a
“Clearing System”). Except in the circumstances described in the Global Note Certificate,
investors will not be entitled to receive definitive Notes. The relevant Clearing System will
maintain records of the beneficial interests in the Global Note Certificate. While the Notes are
represented by the Global Note Certificate, investors will be able to trade their beneficial interests

only through the Clearing Systems.

While the Notes are represented by the Global Note Certificate, the Issuer will discharge its
payment obligations under the Notes by making payments to Euroclear and Clearstream for
distribution to their account holders. A holder of a beneficial interest in a Global Note Certificate
must rely on the procedures of the relevant Clearing System to receive payments under the Notes.
The Issuer has no responsibility or liability for the records relating to, or payments made in respect

of, beneficial interests in the Global Note Certificate.

Holders of beneficial interests in a Global Note Certificate will not have a direct right to vote
in respect of the Notes. Instead, such holders will be permitted to act only to the extent that they
are enabled by the relevant Clearing System to appoint appropriate proxies. Similarly, holders of
beneficial interests in a Global Note Certificate will not have a direct right under such Global Note
Certificate to take enforcement action against the Issuer in the event of a default under the Notes

but will have to rely upon their rights under the Trust Deed.
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Gains on the transfer of the Notes and interest payable by the Issuer to overseas Noteholders

may be subject to tax under PRC tax laws.

Under the Enterprise Income Tax Law of the PRC (“EIT Law”) which took effect on 1
January 2008 and revised on 24 February 2017 and 29 December 2018 with its implementation
rules, any gains realised on the transfer of the Notes by holders who are deemed under the EIT
Law as non-resident enterprises may be subject to PRC enterprise income tax if such gains are
regarded as income derived from sources within the PRC. Under the EIT Law, a “non-resident
enterprise” means an enterprise established under the laws of a jurisdiction other than the PRC
and whose actual administrative organisation is not in the PRC, which has established offices or
premises in the PRC, or which has not established any offices or premises in the PRC but has
obtained income derived from sources within the PRC. There remains uncertainty as to whether the
gains realised on the transfer of the Notes by non-resident enterprise Noteholders would be treated
as incomes derived from sources within the PRC and be subject to PRC enterprise income tax. In
addition, there is uncertainty as to whether gains realised on the transfer of the Notes by individual
Noteholders who are not PRC citizens or residents will be subject to PRC individual income tax. If
such gains are subject to PRC income tax, the 10 per cent. enterprise income tax rate and 20 per cent.
individual income tax rate will apply respectively unless there is an applicable tax treaty or
arrangement that reduces or exempts such income tax. The taxable income will be the balance of the
total income obtained from the transfer of the Notes minus all costs and expenses that are permitted
under PRC tax laws to be deducted from the income. According to the Arrangement between the
Mainland of China and the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region for the Avoidance of Double
Taxation and the Prevention of Fiscal Evasion with Respect to Taxes on Income (/A HiLFI A #5453 K17
IERC [ [0 7 S Py ok £ B T OB AN By LT B A L HE) (the “Arrangement”) which was promulgated
on 21 August 2006, Noteholders who are Hong Kong residents, including both enterprise holders and
individual holders, will be exempted from PRC income tax on capital gains derived from a sale or
exchange of the Notes, if such capital gains are not connected with an office or establishment that the

Noteholders have in the PRC and all the other relevant conditions are satisfied.

Pursuant to the EIT Law, the PRC Individual Income Tax Law (the “IIT Law”) which took
effect on 1 January 2019, and the implementation regulations in relation to both the EIT Law and
IIT Law, PRC income tax at a rate of 10 per cent. or 20 per cent. is normally applicable to
PRC-source income derived by non-resident enterprises or individuals respectively, subject to
adjustment by applicable treaty. As the Issuer is a PRC resident enterprise for tax purposes,
interest paid to non-resident Noteholders would be regarded as PRC-sourced, and therefore be
subject to PRC income tax at a rate of 10 per cent. for non-resident enterprise Noteholders and at a

rate of 20 per cent. for non-resident individual Noteholders (or a lower treaty rate, if any).

On 23 March 2016, the MOF and the SAT issued the Circular of Full Implementation of
Business Tax to Value Added Tax Reform (FAECHE ~ 18 58085 48 =) BR 7 4 1o 4k B /8 SE B0 OO (8
Bt B4 1) (“Circular 36”) which introduced a new value-added tax (“VAT”) from 1 May
2016. VAT is applicable where the entities or individuals provide services within the PRC. Based

on the definition of “loans” under Circular 36, the issuance of the Notes is likely to be treated as
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the holders of the Notes providing loans to the Issuer, which thus shall be regarded as financial
services subject to VAT. Further, given that the Issuer is located in the PRC, the holders of the
Notes would be regarded as providing the financial services within China and consequently, the
holders of the Notes shall be subject to VAT at the rate of 6 per cent. And certain surcharges on
payments of interest and certain other amounts on the Notes paid by the Issuer to Noteholders that

are non-resident enterprises or individuals.

VAT is unlikely to be applicable to any transfer of Notes between entities or individuals
located outside of the PRC and therefore unlikely to be applicable to gains realised upon such
transfers of Notes, but there is uncertainty as to the applicability of VAT if either the seller or
buyer of Notes is located inside the PRC. As Circular 36 together with other laws and regulations
pertaining to VAT are relatively new, the interpretation and enforcement of such laws and

regulations involve uncertainties.

If a Noteholder, being a non-resident enterprise or non-resident individual, is required to pay
any PRC income tax on gains on the transfer of the Notes, the value of the relevant Noteholder’s

investment in the Notes may be materially and adversely affected.

The Notes are redeemable in the event of certain withholding taxes being applicable.

The Issuer may redeem the Notes at its option, in whole but not in part, at a redemption price
equal to their principal amount, together with interest accrued up to, but excluding, the date fixed
for redemption if, subject to certain conditions, as a result of a change in tax law, the Issuer has or
will become obliged to pay Additional Tax Amounts (as defined in the Terms and Conditions of
the Notes), as further described in Condition 5(b) (Redemption for tax reasons) of the Terms and
Condition of the Notes. There can be no assurance as to whether or not payments on the Notes
may be made without withholding taxes or deductions applying from the Issue Date on account of
any taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges of whatever nature imposed, levied,
collected, withheld or assessed by or within the PRC or any subdivision or authority therein or
thereof having power to tax. Although pursuant to the Terms and Conditions of the Notes, the
Issuer is required to gross up payments on account of any such withholding taxes or deductions
(whether by way of enterprise income tax (“EIT”), business tax, VAT or otherwise), the Issuer also
has the right to redeem the Notes at any time in the event (i) it has or will become obliged to pay
Additional Tax Amounts as a result of any change in, or amendment to, the laws or regulations of
the PRC or any political subdivision or any authority thereof or therein having power to tax, or
any change in the application or official interpretation of such laws or regulations (including a
holding by a court of competent jurisdiction), which change or amendment becomes effective on or
after 9 January 2020, and (ii) such obligation cannot be avoided by the Issuer taking reasonable

measures available to it.
On 23 March 2016, the MOF and the SAT issued Circular 36 which introduces VAT from 1

May 2016. VAT is applicable where the entities or individuals provide services within the PRC.

However, Circular 36 and laws and regulations pertaining to VAT are relatively new and the
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interpretation and enforcement of such laws and regulations involve uncertainties. If the
withholding tax applicable increases from that applicable on 9 January 2020 as a result of Circular
36, the Issuer is entitled to redeem the Notes under the Terms and Conditions of the Notes. For

more details, see “Taxation — PRC — Value-added Tax”.

If the Issuer redeems the Notes prior to the Maturity Date, investors may not receive the
same economic benefits they would have received had they held the Notes to maturity, and they
may not be able to reinvest the proceeds they receive in a redemption in similar securities. In

addition, the Issuer’s ability to redeem the Notes may reduce the market price of the Notes.

The Issuer may issue additional Notes in the future.

The Issuer may, from time to time, and without prior consultation of the Noteholders, create
and issue further Notes (see “Terms and Conditions of the Notes — Further Issues”) or otherwise
raise additional capital through such means and in such manner as it may consider necessary.
There can be no assurance that such future issuance or capital raising activity will not adversely

affect the market price of the Notes.

Decisions that may be made on behalf of all Noteholders may be adverse to the interests of

individual Noteholders.

The Terms and Conditions of the Notes contain provisions for calling meetings of
Noteholders to consider matters affecting their interests generally. These provisions permit defined
majorities to bind all Noteholders including Noteholders who did not attend and vote at the
relevant meeting and Noteholders who voted in a manner contrary to the majority. Furthermore,
there is a risk that the decision of the majority of Noteholders may be adverse to the interests of

individual Noteholders.

The rating assigned to the Notes may be downgraded or withdrawn at any time.

The Notes are expected to be rated “A-" by Lianhe Global and “BBB+” by Fitch. Each rating
represents the opinions of the relevant rating agency and its assessment of the ability of the Issuer
to perform its obligations under the Notes and credit risks in determining the likelihood that
payments will be made when due under the Notes. A rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or
hold the Notes. A rating can be lowered or withdrawn at any time. The Issuer is not obligated to
inform Noteholders if the ratings are lowered or withdrawn. A reduction or withdrawal of the
ratings may adversely affect the market price of the Notes and the Issuer’s ability to access the

debt capital markets.
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RISKS RELATING TO FINANCIAL AND OTHER INFORMATION

Any public interest assets of the Group should not be taken into account when evaluating the

Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects are assessed.

According to the Joint Circular 706, assets of an issuer of medium and long-term foreign debt
should be of good quality with clear ownership rights. It further provides that any public interest
assets such as public schools, public hospitals, cultural facilities, parks, public squares, office
buildings of government departments and institutions, municipal roads, non-toll bridges,
non-operating water conservancy facilities, no-charge pipe network facilities and other public
interest assets and the usage rights of reserve land cannot be counted towards an issuer’s assets for

the purposes of issuing medium and long-term foreign debt (“Public Interest Assets”).

As at 31 December 2021, the Group held titles of certain assets that are to serve public
functions (“Public Function Assets”). Title to these Public Function Assets were transferred to the
Group from the Issuer’s shareholder prior to the issue of the Joint Circular 706 as a form of capital
injection. The Group’s Public Function Assets include roads, bridges and other infrastructure in
Zhengzhou that the Group maintains and operates. Some of the Public Function Assets are subjects
of the Group’s current PPP contracts. Prior to 2015, the Group received various forms of subsidies
for the maintenance and operation of such Public Function Assets. Since 2015, the Group
generates maintenance and operation services fees payable by the relevant government entities as
part of the Group’s PPP project investment and management business and project settlement and
construction business. As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s Public Function Assets amounted to
approximately RMB14,590.5 million, representing approximately 30.64 per cent. of the Group’s
total assets and 76.79 per cent. of the Group’s total net assets. Potential investors should note that
such amount of the Group’s Public Function Assets has not been audited by any auditor and as

such potential investors must exercise caution when using or placing any reliance on such amount.

As the enforcement of the Joint Circular 706 involves uncertainties, there can be no
assurance that the relevant government authorities would not treat the Group’s Public Function
Assets as Public Interest Assets, despite the fact the Group holds proper titles to such assets. The
Group’s Public Function Assets have not been excluded from the Group’s consolidated financial
statements included in this Offering Circular, and potential investors must therefore exercise
caution when using such consolidated financial statements to evaluate the Group’s business,
financial condition, results of operations and prospects. The Group has been in discussions with
the relevant government authorities to formalise the legal categorisation of such assets and expects
to resolve this matter within three years of the date of this Offering Circular. For the purposes of
preparing the financial statements, the Group will continue to include all of its assets (including
the Public Function Assets) in the financial statements in accordance with PRC GAAP. The
Noteholders must exercise caution when evaluating the Group’s business, financial condition,

results of operations and prospects when reviewing the financial statements prepared by the Group.
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The Joint Circular 706 further provides that (i) the punishment for enterprises involved in
unlawful financing and guarantee shall be intensified; (ii) such enterprises shall be included in the
blacklist of relevant fields and the national credit information sharing platform for publicity; (iii)
trans-departmental joint punishment shall be implemented; (iv) notification shall be made in a
timely manner; and (v) relevant liable parties shall be restricted from filing new applications for or
participating in the recordation and registration of foreign debts. As the Joint Circular 706 is
relatively new and given the limited volume of published decisions relating to the Joint Circular
706, the interpretation and implementation of the Joint Circular 706 involves uncertainties. In
addition, there can be no assurance that the PRC government will not impose penalty on the Group
according to the Joint Circular 706 or impose additional or stricter laws and regulations relating to
foreign debt financing, which may increase the Group’s financing costs and in turn could
materially and adversely affect the Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations and

prospects.

Certain accounting items in the Audited Financial Statements may not be comparable to the
financial information in the consolidated financial statements of the Issuer for the previous

periods.

In recent years, the MOF promulgated certain new accounting policies and new requirements
in relation to financial instruments, recognition of income and accounting treatment of leases (the
“New Accounting Policies and Requirements”) including the Interpretation of Accounting
Standards for Business Enterprises No. 14 — Revenue issued in 2021. The Issuer has implemented
the relevant applicable New Accounting Policies and Requirements from 1 January 2021. The
audited consolidated financial statements of the Issuer as at and for the year ended 31 December
2021 were prepared and presented in accordance with the relevant applicable New Accounting
Policies and Requirements. Accordingly, the presentation of certain accounting items in the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Issuer as at and for the year ended 31 December 2021 may
not be comparable to the financial figures in the Issuer’s financial statements for the previous
periods. As a result of the relevant applicable New Accounting Policies and Requirements which
affected the revenue recognition of the certain existing PPP projects of the Group, the revenue
derived from the Group’s PPP project investment and management business decreased significantly
to RMB27.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2021, representing 2.3 per cent. of the
Group’s total revenue for the same year, from RMB628.7 million and RMB628.7 million for the
years ended 31 December 2019 and 2020, respectively, representing 51.2 per cent. and 54.8 per
cent. of the total revenue for the corresponding years, while the revenue derived from its project
settlement and construction business increased substantially to RMB964.7 million for the year
ended 31 December 2021, representing 81.5 per cent. of the Group’s total revenue for the same
year, from RMB138.7 million and RMB351.8 million for the years ended 31 December 2019 and
2020, respectively, representing 11.3 per cent. and 30.6 per cent. of the total revenue for the
corresponding years. For details of the New Accounting Policies and Requirements and its impact

on the audited consolidated financial statements of the Issuer as at and for the year ended 31
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December 2021, please see “Notes to Financial Statements — III. Important accounting policies
and accounting estimates — (32) Important accounting policies and accounting estimate change”
of the 2021 Audited Financial Statements.

In addition, certain financial figures as at and for the years ended 31 December 2019 and
2020 were restated in the audited consolidated financial statements of the Issuer as at and for the
years ended 31 December 2020 and 2021, as the case may be, as a result of certain accounting
errors that occurred in the preparation of the Issuer’s financial statements for the previous periods.
For details of such accounting errors and the impact of the restatement, please see “Notes to
Financial Statements — III. Important accounting policies and accounting estimates — (27)
Correction of previous errors” of the Issuer’s audited consolidated financial statements as at and
for the year ended 31 December 2020 and “Notes to Financial Statements — III. Important
accounting policies and accounting estimates — (33) Correction of previous errors” of the 2021
Audited Financial Statements. As a result of the restatement, certain financial figures as at and for
the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2020 in the Issuer’s audited consolidated financial
statements as at and for the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2021, as the case may be, may not

be comparable to the financial figures in the Issuer’s financial statements for the previous periods.

There can be no assurance that the MOF will not promulgate other new accounting standards
or requirements in relation to financial statements which may affect the Issuer’s accounting

policies or the presentation of the Issuer’s financial statements.

The Issuer published and may continue to publish periodical financial information in the
PRC pursuant to applicable PRC regulatory rules. Investors should be cautious and not place

any reliance on any financial information other than that disclosed in this Offering Circular.

The Issuer from time to time issues corporate bonds in the domestic capital markets in the
PRC. According to applicable PRC securities regulations on debt capital markets, the Issuer needs
to publish its periodical financial information to satisfy its continuing disclosure obligations
relating to its corporate bonds and short-term commercial paper. After the Notes are issued, the
Issuer is obligated by the terms of the Notes, among others, to provide holders of the Notes with
its audited financial statements and certain unaudited and unreviewed periodical financial
statements. The interim financial information published by the Group in the PRC is normally
derived from the Group’s management accounts which have not been audited or reviewed by
independent auditors. As such, this financial information published in the PRC should not be
referred to or relied upon by potential purchasers to provide the same quality of information
associated with any audited information. The Issuer is not responsible to holders of the Notes for
the unaudited and unreviewed financial information from time to time published in the PRC and

therefore potential investors should not place any reliance on any such financial information.
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The Group’s independent auditors, AP CPA, has received adverse regulatory decisions issued

by relevant PRC regulatory authorities and has been involved in litigations in recent years.

The Group’s independent auditors, AP CPA, is a registered accounting firm in the PRC
supervised by the PRC courts and other relevant PRC regulatory agencies, including the MOF and
China Securities Regulatory Commission (“CSRC”).

CSRC and its local branches have taken administrative actions against AP CPA and its
employees, which included holding supervisory talks, issuing warning letters, making a record the
securities and futures market integrity files, imposing deadlines upon AP CPA for rectification and
submitting reports to the CSRC. The administrative actions taken against AP CPA from 2019 to the
date of this Offering Circular include:

. in January 2019, CSRC Jiangsu Regulatory Bureau issued a warning letter against AP
CPA and two registered auditors of AP CPA, in respect of AP CPA’s 2017 annual audit
of Xuzhou Kerong Environment and Recourse Co., Ltd. (¥& il B35 & I A 0 A PR A

A]) whereby various audit procedures were not in place;

. in April 2019, CSRC Zhejiang Regulatory Bureau issued a warning letter against AP
CPA and two registered auditors of AP CPA, in respect of AP CPA’s 2017 annual audit
of Zhejiang Renzhi Co., Ltd. (W78 &l A RS 7)) whereby AP CPA did not fully
identified and assessed the risk of material misstatements, did not implemented
sufficient and appropriate audit procedures and the signing accountants had not

performed their duties diligently;

. in October 2019, CSRC Hebei Regulatory Bureau issued a warning letter against AP
CPA and two registered auditors of AP CPA, in respect of AP CPA’s 2018 annual audit
of Zhongjia Bochuang Information Technology Co., Ltd. (" %% 1% 8 & sHE T B 15 A PR 2
Al);

. in October 2019, National Association of Financial Market Institutional Investors
imposed disciplinary actions on AP CPA and two registered auditors of AP CPA, in
respect of AP CPA’s 2017 annual audit work of Kangde Investment Group Co., Ltd. (J#
THECE AR M A R D,

. in November 2019, CSRC Hubei Regulatory Bureau issued a warning letter against AP
CPA and two registered auditors of AP CPA, in respect of AP CPA’s 2018 internal
audited work of Yingfan Microelectronics Co., Ltd. (& 77 & T A FRA 7)),

. in December 2019, CSRC Shenzhen Regulatory Bureau issued a warning letter against
AP CPA and two registered auditors of AP CPA, in respect of AP CPA’s 2017 and 2018
annual audited work of Shenzhen Haisidi Resource Technology Co., Ltd